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PREFACE.

HE following Historical Sketches were first
published in the form of articles contributed

to the ¢ Perthshire Advertiser” at various dates
between August, 1855, and June, 1858. Their
Author, Mr. Duncan Campbell, now of Inverness,
was at that time Parish Schoolmaster of Fortingall,
Glenlyon; he was thoroughly conversant with the
topography, antiquities, and legends of the dis-
tricts of Appin, Glenlyon, and Breadalbane, and
had access to the family records preserved in Glen-
lyon House. The Sketches have been collected
by Sir Donald Currie of Garth and Glenlyon,
and carefully revised for him by the Author, with a

view to their reproduction in the present volume.

May, 1886.






INVERNESS, July 4th, 1885.

EAR SIR DONALD CURRIE,—*The Lairds of
Glenlyon ” which you are republishing for private
circulation from the old files of the Perthsiire Advertiser,
were written by me in weekly or fortnightly instalments,
long, long ago, when I was schoolmaster of Fortingall,
and as yet quite a young man. I was full of traditional
stories I had heard in my boyhood from my grandmother,
from Archibald M‘Arthur, miller of St. Eonan’s Mill, and
many other aged persons. I possessed papers left by my
grandfather, and had access to papers then at Glenlyon
House, which, at a time when repairs were going on, I had
the good fortune to save from being burned. Very few of
the papers went further back than 1670, and the few that
dated from 1620 did not tell much about Glenlyon. I had
therefore at first to rely upon tradition alone in respect to
the carlier history, and I found that while agreeing in the
main my chief informants, who were John M‘Arthur alias
“Tain Mor Mac Rob,” my grand-uncle, Donald M‘Naughton
alieas “ Domhnull Ciotach,” Archibald M‘Diarmid a/zas
“ Gilleasbuig Mor Scoileir,” and the Kirkton of Fortingall
veteran soldier, John Campbell a/zs “Iain Caimbeul a
Chlaoidh,” differed in details and modes of telling their
stories. Before the series of papers was concluded, 77
Black Book of Taymouth came out; and that gave me an
opportunity of supplementing and correcting traditions.






THE LAIRDS OF GLENLYON.

ik

LENLYON stretches in a westerly direction between
Appin of Dull and Tyndrum. It lies wholly in
Perthshire, having Rannoch running parallel on the north
and Breadalbane on the south. The road to Tyndrum not
being open, as well as other reasons, have hitherto caused this
glen to be a little world by itself. The scenery is unique,
and beautiful throughout. The circular dale of Fortingall,
abounding in Druidic and Roman remains, forms the vesti-
bule. The traveller then enters the Pass of Chesthill, and
for three miles walks along the course of the Lyon, which,
hoarse-murmuring over its bed of honey-combed rocks,
and now and then hampered by cliffs jutting from either
side, gives one, by its twisting stream, crested with milky
foam, the idea of a half-strangled serpent wriggling along,
wounded but menacing. Lofty abrupt rocks, cloud-capped
above, and covered with woods at their base, adorn and
complete the scene. Emerging from the Pass, our traveller
now reaches the inhabited places, the beginning of the real
glen. Its conformation may be generally described as a

succession of long “bends,” the angles of which consist
A
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of mountain spurs, that so closely approximate at certain
points as to make the beholder think he has attained his
goal, and that the little opening before him has no ulterior,
beyond, at best, a small mountain corrie. His astonish-
ment increases as he enters another and still another “bend,”
in generals so like, but in particulars so dissimilar from,
the preceding ones. Thus the scene shifts from beginning
to end, a distance in all of thirty miles, while the average
breadth is not much above two. The hills, rising nearly
perpendicular from the bed of the river, give the whole
glen its individuality of character; but the surface changes
continually from bare rocks to verdant green—from woods
and purple heath to the rich pasture of the braes, in sum-
mer almost white, from the large intermixture of white
bed-straw (Galium sexatile) and eye-bright. The patches
of arable ground, formed upon the dedrss washed down
by mountain streams, are very fertile, but slow in ripen-
ing, as in most places the mountain tops intercept the
kindly sunbeams. In some places, indeed, the sun is not
seen for upwards of two months.

The present population does not exceed 600. Within
the memory of persons living, it was fully double this.
The population consists of large sheep-farmers, a few cot-
tars and tradesmen, with a very slight sprinkling of crofters
or small holders. There are an Established and a Free
Church and their respective schools, and also a Baptist
meeting-place. Three proprietors share among them the
whole glen—R. S. Menzies, Esq. of Culdares; J. S. Men-
zies, Esq. of Chesthill ; and the Marquis of Breadalbane.
The last possesses the lands once held by the M‘Gregors of
Roro, and in the braes which formerly made part of the
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royal forest of Bendaskerly, of which an ancestor of that
noble family, Sir Duncan Campbell of Glenorchy, was ap-
pointed hereditary forester by James VI.

The glen abounds in traditions and remains of the Fin-
galians. A chain of round towers stretches through its
whole length, which the people still call “ Caistealan nam
Fiann,” castles of the Fingalians. There is an old saying,
« Bha da chaisteal dheug aig Fionn an crom ghlean nan
garbh chlach ”—* Fingal had twelve castles in the crooked
glen of large stones.” Most of these ruins are to this day
pointed out. There are five of them at the place called
Cashlie (castles), each bearing the name of a known Fin-
galian chief. There can be little doubt these towers were
used both for protection and watch-towers, from which the
approach of danger was telegraphed far and near. It is no
argument against the latter view, that some of the towers
were not within sight of others; the conformation of the
country rendered it impossible, granting that each dale and
valley was held by its own tribe of inhabitants, squatting
round their tower. It was in general only requisite that,
when the messenger of war arrived, the chief, by displaying
the beacon light from the top of the tower, could gather his
own followers without loss of time. In confirmation of this
view, we find that a tower, which is in sight of no other
one, still commands the whole glen or section of a glen in
which it is placed.

The chain of towers between Dunkeld and the borders
of Argyleshire must have been of much consequence, in-
deed, in the pre-historic annals of Scotland. There seems
little doubt this was the Drumalban of later historians. A
passage in a poem by the bard Douthal, on Mordubh, king
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of the Caledonians, still extant, speaks of Drumalban and
the beacon lignt as follows :—

¢¢ Tionailibh mo shuin o’n t’-seilg,”
Thubhairt Ceann-feadhna na’ h-Alba.

¢¢ Soillsichibh srad air Druim-Feinne,
Is thig mo laoich o ghruaidh gach beinne.”
Labhair Mordubh righ nan srath,
’S lionair crag tha ’g-innseadh an sgeul.

“Cal my heroes from the chase,” said the Captain of Scot-
land. “Light a spark on Druim-Feinne (the high top of the
Fingalians—viz,, Drumalban), and my warriors shall come
from the side of each hill. Mordubh, King of Straths, thus
spoke, and many a crag tells the tale.” Captain of Scotland
—such is the title given to Mordubh as generalissimo in the
war, while his personal and ordinary rank was King of
Straths. King, in those days, was a name assumed by any
chief that had a decent following. The long bead-roll of
Caledonian kings anterior to Kenneth, was likely, to a con-
siderable extent, made up of the names of so many inde-
pendent chiefs, who, one way or 'another, made themselves
remarkable in their day, and many of whom must have lived
contemporaneously, and of whom few, perhaps, merited
the title of king, in the sense in which the annalists, misled
by the unity of their own times, so liberally bestowed it,
so as, indeed, to destroy the authority of their story.
Glenlyon is a mine of legends, or was so a few years be-
fore it was “swept.” We may give a few in passing; but our
principal object is to gather in one record the chief events in
the traditional history of a family that one unfortunate cir-
cumstance made too notorious in the history of Scotland—
the Campbells of Glenlyon. Before coming to the Lairds,
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however, it is necessary to pay homage to Holy Mother
Kirk, and relate the

LEGEND OF ST. EONAN.

St. Eonan (as tradition says) was the disciple of St.
Columba, but more correctly an alumnus of the Monastery
of Iona, founded by St. Columba about 565. St. Eonan set
out in company with St. Fillan to instruct the rude inhabi-
tants of the Grampians in the doctrines of Christianity. The
whole land lay before them, and—Ilike the patriarchs of old,
casting lots— Strathfillan, Balquhidder, &c., fell to St. Fillan;
Glenlyon and its neighbourhood to Eonan. Civilization, of
yore as now, followed in the wake of the religion of the cross.
Both saints, in their different abodes, recommended their
spiritual doctrines to the people, by showing they could better
their temporal state. Fillan erected the mill at Killin;
Eonan that of Milton Eonan in Glenlyon. During Eonan’s
sojourn in the place of his pilgrimage, one of the dreadful
plagues that then so often depopulated Europe, broke out
over Scotland. At Fortingall it made such ravage that only
one survived—“an Ossian after the Fenians.” This was
an old woman, who performed the duties of sexton, con-
veying the dead, by her grey horse and sledge, into one
hollow over which a heap of stones was afterwards raised,
still to be seen in the Haugh of Fortingall, and called the
“Cairn of the Dead.” What became of the heroine of the
grey horse, our Sennachies forget to tell ; but they say the
desert dale of Fortingall was subsequently repeopled by a
colony of the M‘Dougals of Lorn, many of whose descendants
are still found there. As the plague extended up the glen,
St. Eonan’s people,despairing of all human rescue,bethought
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themselves of the spiritual aid of their pastor, whose good
help they importuned in the following lines :—

Eonan nan gruaidhean dearg

Eirich, is caisg plaigh do shluaigh ;

Saor sinne bho’n Bhas

Is na leig oirnn e nios no 'n nuas.
“ Eonan of the ruddy cheeks, rise and check the plague of
thy people. Save us from the death, and let it not come
upon us east or west.” However unreasonable the request,
the prudent missionary found it expedient to temporise.
He assembled the people. The meeting was held in the
open air, within forty yards of a house in which a young
child was dying of the plague. He preached with success
the gospel of peace to the excited and horrified multitude.
He took, at the same time, all precautions within his reach,
separating the sound from the unsound, and did not hesitate
himself to discharge the duties of attendance on the dying,
while he sent their relations away to the mountain sheilings.
The plague soon stopped, and the people, of course, ascribed
their safety to the miraculous power of the saint. The rock
on which he prayed and preached in that dreadful crisis is
called Craig-dianaidh—iz.e., “ rock of safety.” A rude cross,
set up by the wayside, was probably erected at a later
period, to excite the devotions of the faithful. The rock
was henceforward the place where neighbouring chiefs could
most safely meet in solemn conclave, both for judicial and
other purposes. Here was held the meeting, in which the
chief of the M‘Ivors, having refused todo justice to the foster-
brother of Stewart of Garth, brought upon himself the fate
related at length by General Stewart in his Sketches of the
Highlanders. Near the rock is Bodack Chraig-dianaidy, a
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large round stone, which is to be placed on another flat one
some feet high. While the seniors were in council grave,
the young men, it is probable, were putting their strength
to the test in lifting the Bodach. There are at least two
other similar stones in the glen—one at Cashlie, eight miles
farther up; and one at Lochs. Fingal, the grey-haired
King of Morven, would, it is said, allow no youth to bear
the warlike spear, or. join the ranks of war until he lifted
one of the Bodachs.

When Eonan was dying, his people assembled to receive
his blessing, and asked where he wished to be buried. He
made the singular request that they should carry his corpse
down the water until the withs that attached the hand-
spikes to the bier broke, and there bury him. Faithful to
their trust, they proceeded downwards and downwards with
the remains of the saint, till the “ dul” or withs broke at
Dull, where St. Eonan was buried, and to which he be-
queathed a name, and the potent magic of his sanctity. We
find, at the end of the tenth century, the Abthania of Dull
—a singular word, that puzzled eminent antiquaries—pos-
sessed by Crynyn, “ Abthane of Dull, and Seneschal of the
Isles,” who, as the father of Duncan (slain by Macbeth), and
husband of Beatrix, daughter of King Malcolm, was the
progenitor of a long line of princes. Doubtful tradition
says that Dull was the first seminary of education on the
mainland, and that, long before Kilreymonth or St. Andrews
merged into light, the Caledonian youths there imbibed the
learning of ancient Rome, and the comparatively pure doc-
trines of the monks of Iona.

The saint’s day was commemorated till of late by St.
Eonan’s Fair at Dull. Strange that religion should, in






II.

E leap over several centuries. In the ecarly times,
land was not of so much consequence in the eyes
of a chief as men. The “following ” was his hereditary
property ; the land the prize of his sword. The strong clan
dispossessed the weak, and it again one weaker than itself
The boast of physical superiority on the part of the con-
querors, as well as the wresting from the conquered of the
lands of their habitation, and their means of existence, em-
bittered and prolonged the feuds of the Highlands. We are
often perplexed by sudden and unexplained changes of in-
habitants, and the introduction of new names, in the carly
annals of Scotland, which, no doubt, were mostly owing to
the practical application of Coir a Chlaidheamh—iz.e., right
of the sword.

Glenlyon passed through many hands. According to
popular belief, the successive dynasties of lairds were divided
into sevens—thus, seven M‘Gregors, seven Campbells, and so
to continue to the end of time. Towards the end of the
reign of David Bruce, a great chief, named Zain Dubk nan
lann—black John of the spears—was laird. At this time,
from some domestic feud in the family of the Knight of
Lochawe, his widowed daughter-in-law, the wife of his eldest
‘'son—so tradition says—and her infant son, were forced to
abandon their native halls, and flee for refuge to Glenlyon.
Black John married the widow, and had by her a family of
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seven sons. The young Campbell, his dalta, or step-son,
was carefully nurtured. A neighbouring priest, probably
the prior of Sibilla’s Island, in Lochtay, instructed him in
the knowledge of the times. Though deprived of his in-
heritance, the adage that “ knowledge is power,” being never
more true than in a barbarcus age, he found himself superior
to most of the rude chiefs, and was looked upon by them
as an oracle—advantages which, by-and-bye, he turned
to account. ‘
Probably before the time that Donald of the Isles raised
such commotions in the north—certainly during the regency
of Albany—the Chisholm, chief of that period, made a foray
to Glenlyon. The fiery cross was sent round the glen. All
able to carry arms met at Tom-na-cuartaig, #ze /Zillock of the
circle, near the chieftain’s abode. The place is yet seen on
the hill of Kerrumore, near the bridge of Balgie. It is an
artificial mound of no great compass, circular, and level at
top, save where a broad belt stretches round the edge, like
a walk round a flower-plot. It seems to have been the
general muster-place, probably, too—the fo/kmote or place
of meeting for settling any dispute that might arise among
the people. Near it are some ruins called 77g/% Jain Duibh
nan lann—* Black John of the Spear’s house.” It may be,a
little excavation here would tell tales of other days. On
the muster-ground, John and his men resolved to meet the
foe. Chisholm and his cearnaick crossed the river, and
were marching up the ascent. Black John prepared for
immediate battle, For his Leichteach or body-guard he had
his seven sons—four on the right, and three on the left;
and, to make up the odd number, and equalise both sides, a
very manly fellow, a cobbler, who was, when summoned,
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busied in cutting buskins from the skins of slaughtered deer
for the men of war—M‘Callum by name—was called out, and
stationed with the three on the left. The day was sultry.
Chisholm was oppressed by the weight of mailed armour
with which, as chief, he had invested himself. He raised
his visor, and put up his hand to wipe the blinding sweat
from his forechead. M‘Callum—or, as he is better known,
the Greusaiche Riabhach—observed the movement. He
raised his bow ; the string twanged; the Chisholm fell
from his horse, his right hand clinched to his bleeding
forehead by the fatal arrow. Black John’s men, with a wild
tolack, dashed upon the amazed foe, fiercely attacked
them by the claymore, and left few or none to bring to
the north country the mournful tidings of their chieftain’s
fate.

Bruce, by endeavouring—though unsuccessfully—to in-
stitute a guo warranto inquiry, alarmed while he irritated
the spirit of the chiefs and nobles. Henceforward they
prized more than formerly title-deeds and written docu-
ments. Campbell, the dalta of Zain Dubl, one day asked the
latter by what right he held his lands. The aged chief
pointed to his sword and armour. “Oh,” says he, “but
there are surer safeguards than that. Age may tame the
warrior’s strength ; misfortune may snap his bow ; the foe-
man’s sword may deprive his people of their trust: then the
right goes as it came. But take my advice, and apply to
the king for a charter, which will not be refused, and the
royal sword and Scotland’s laws become the pledge of your
security. More, you can rule your people and their posses-
sions from the grave ; for, according to your will shall your
descendants succeed for ever.” “My dalta,” replied John,
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“ you speak the words of wisdom. See and obtain the parch-
ment ; though, after all, I do not understand why the sword
is not a better guard than the sheep’s skin.” It was obtained
accordingly ; and, after his own seven sons and their issue,
Campbell’s name was inserted as next in succession. Dur-
ing the troubled regency of Albany, all Iain Dubh’s
sons but one perished by the sword. He succeeded his
father, but soon after died by an accident when hunting,
and left the property to the Campbells, in terms of the
charter.

The name of the first laird of the family of Campbell was
Archibald. We have reason to believe he was not John
Dubh’s dalta, but the dalta’s heir. He lived during the
first part of the sixteenth century. Hewas a wise man, and
fully conciliated the people to whose rule he had succeeded.
The M‘Gregors of Roro, who appear to have been in some
way closely connected with the family of Iain Dubh, did
not dispute his rights ; they received him as the heir of the
chieftain—a kindness afterwards well repaid by the Camp-
bells of Glenlyon.

The second laird of the Campbell family was “Donnachadh
Ruadh na Feileachd "—Red Duncan of the hospitality. He
died in the year 1580. His profuse hospitality gained for
him a name not yet forgotten. Bands of Irish harperscame
to Scotland in his days. As the dispensers of fame, they
exacted good treatment and attendance to such a degree,
that any great bore is still called Cleadli-sheanchain, which
was the name given to these musical bands. The band was
composed of a doctor of song and twelve scholars. In the
earliest times, the bards, as a subordinate class in the order
of Druids, were upheld by the resources of their more
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mighty sacerdotal brethren. Druidism fell ; but how could
heroes live without their fame? The clans maintained
bards at their own expense; and the chiefs, as representatives
of the clans, kept open hall for each strolling chief bard and
his band a twelvemonth and a day, should it not happen that
one of the chief’s retainers could excel the band in song, for
in that case the hospitality was at an end. This, as the
first example of Cuain, or tax, was named the ancient
kain; and the bards, as instructors of the age, cleire, or
clergy. When, in course of time, cowled monks and
priests assumed the mantle of instruction, and, under
higher authority, exacted heavier dues, the old musical
teachers were denominated Clesre-sheanchain, or, cor-
rupted, cleadk-sheanchain—that is, “ clergy of the ancient
tax.”

The bard of Gorrie, an Irish chief, made his way to Glen-
lyon. Red Duncan’s hospitality was already celebrated, and
his reception of the bard and his band did not put his well-
carned fame to shame. A fat bullock, and six wethers, with
red deer and other game, were daily provided for his hall.
The bard, highly pleased, took his farewell at last. The chief
accompanied him part of the way. The bard all at once
complained that his linen was completely worn, and unfit
to be secen ; Duncan stripped, and unhesitatingly accom-
modated him with his own underclothing. When in this
nude state, his lady happening to look forth from the
loop-holes of Carnban Castle—Red Duncan’s home—
and seeing a white figure in the distance, which she took for
one of the winged creation, she exclaimed: “ Oh, such a
large white goose!” From that the place received a

_name.
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After a friendly convoy, Duncan returned, and ordered
his gillies to double everything for to-morrow’s entertain-
ment ; “for,” says he, “the bard suspects I have furnished
my board only for his sake ; his departure is a sham ; he
will return to-morrow.” It happened as anticipated. To
his astonishment, the bard found the hospitable board
better replenished than ever. Some time after, he took his
departure in real earnest, and when his own employer,
Gorrie, inquired about Red Duncan, and put it to him if
strangers fared not better with himself, the bard promptly
replied :

¢¢ Molar Gorrie thar a mhuir
Is gach duine na thir fein ;
Ach na coimisear duine do t-sluagh
Ri Donnachadh Ruadh ach e fein.”

“ Let Gorrie be praised over the sea, and each man in his
own country ; but let none of the race of men be compared
to Red Duncan but himself” Gorrie, indignant at
this extremely plain reply, dismissed the bard, who,
wending his way back to Scotland, rececived from Red
Duncan a piece of land still called Croit @ Blhaird—the
bard’s croft.

Carnban Castle, where Duncan resided, is built on a steep
conical hillock, about three miles beyond the entrance of
the glen. It was defended by a ditch and drawbridge. The
ruins are in good condition. It was a square, or rather
oblong, tower, vaulted and loopholed, with a wide hospit-
able-looking chimney in the west gable, and a round tower
with a cork-screw stair butting out from the adjacent side.
It commands a noble view of the bend of the glen between
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Innervar on the west, and the pass of Chesthill on the east.
It was towards the latter end of autumn I was last there
The wind was soughing down the leaves in the surround-
ing woods ; the hill sides had put on their russet garb;
and the sun, peeping through a chink of the opposite moun-
tain top, made the black slimy rocks of Dericambus glitter
like glass. The ruins were profusely covered with the pretty
wall-fern, and a young squirrel gambolled in a plantain tree
that had stuck its roots in the floor of the once hospitable
hall. The hold was ruined soon after Red Duncan’s
death by a party of Lochaber men, who forayed the
glen, and, in passing, shot from the opposite side of
the river an arrow, to which a piece of burning lint
was attached ; the dry heath thatching caught the
flame, and so Red Duncan’s tower shared the fate of
Troy.

The gratitude of the tuneful confraternity was not bought
in vain. “He is as hospitable as Donnachadh Ruadh na
feileachd ” is yet a byword ; his laudations survive in the
poetry both of Ireland and Scotland.

Duncan was succeeded by his son Colin. He married a
sister of Sir Duncan Campbell of Glenorchy, the true
founder of the Breadalbane family. In his latter days, when
far from old, he lost his reason,and this gained him the epithet
of “gorach,” or mad. But there was method in his madness.
A party of Lochaber men (by-the-bye, they called all be-
yond the Moss of Rannoch and the Blackmount Lochaber
men in those days), headed by Dougal, the second son of the
chief of Muidart, forayed a part of the estate of Glenlyon,
when on their way with, I believe, stolen cattle to one of
the southern trysts. Two of Colin’s tenants, making oppo-
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sition to the spoilers, were slain. Before the Glenlyon men
could muster, they had escaped with their prey. An am-
buscade was laid against their return. Colin’s eldest son,
Duncan, and a strong party, encountered Dougal and his
men at the head of Glendochart, and made them prisoners.
They were brought to Meggernie Castle, and put in durance
vile. Duncan went immediately to Edinburgh to give them
up to Government. He sent a message to his father, telling
him there was every prospect of the prisoners getting off
free, through court interest. Mad Colin became ten times
more mad than before. “Pardon!” says he; “pardon
men taken red-handed in the act of murdering my
tenants! By the might of Mary! it shall not be so.” The
captives, said to be thirty-six in number, were taken out
and strung up to so many trees, about a mile to the east
of Meggernie Castle, on the brae side, called Leackhd nan
Abrack—Lochabermen’s braec. Dougal, the leader, is
said to have been shot by Colin himself. His body
subsequently received the rites of burial at the hands
of a follower more humane than his master. Carz Dughail
—i.e, Dougal’s cairn, is a stonecast above the bridge of
Balgie.

Duncan was horrified on his return to hear of the sum-
mary proceedings of his father. The Muidart family repre-
sented the matter at Edinburgh in a very strong light.
Colin and his son were both outlawed. Thatwasall. Strong
in the fidelity of his followers, and the friendship of
neighbouring chiefs, who were mostly hostile to the govern-
ment, the mad laird of Glenlyon put king and council to
defiance.

When his vagaries became extravagant, his son, on the
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plea of his father’s madness, made peace with the govern-
ment, and was himself appointed administrator of the estate.
Yet the mad laird was left at large, and, with Finlay, his
attendant, wandered as far and widely among the hills, in
pursuit of game, as his heart could desire. Many stories
are told of their wanderings and doings. I may give one.
They were after the deer, the chase was unsuccessful, and
Colin’s mood was chafed. On the brow of Stuic-an-lochain
—a huge rock beetling over a deep circular mountain tarn
—they encountered a flock of goats. Mad Colin and his
man forced them over the precipice. When surveying their
work from the top of the cliff, Colin unexpectedly came be-
hind Finlay, and ordered him, in a threatening voice, to
jump over. He knew it was useless to resist. He said
quietly, and as a matter of course: “I will, Glenlyon; but,”
looking at a grey stone behind them, “I would just like
to say my prayers at yon stone first; it is so like an
altar.” Colin mused, looked at the stone, and, letting go
his hold, bade him go, and be back immediately. Finlay
reached the stone, knelt down, muttered whatever came
uppermost, and every now and then took a sly look at his
master. Colin stood yet on the edge of the cliff, and kept
looking on the mangled bodies of the goats. He seemed to
become horrified at his own mad work. Finlay lost not his
opportunity. He stealthily crept behind his master, grasped
him by the shoulders, and shouted, in a thundering voice :
“ Leap after the goats.” The unhappy lunatic supplicated
for mercy, in vain. Finlay’s grasp was like a vice ; and he
so held him over the precipice, that if let go he could not
recover himself, but inevitably fall over. “ Let me go this
once,” supplicated Colin. “ Swear, first, you shall not cir-
B
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N 1590, a commission was granted to Sir Duncan
Campbell of Glenorchy, empowering him to pursue the

clan Gregor with fire and sword, and forbidding any of the
lieges to reset them. Mad Colin was first married to Sir
Duncan’s sister, on whose death he married a sister of the
Laird of Lawers, who was Glenorchy’s right-hand man in the
persecution of the clan Gregor. Colin, as a clansman and
near relative, was solicited to join them by the Knight and
Lawers. Remembering Jain dubl nan lani's gift to his fore-
fathers, he viewed the project with abhorrence, laid a curse on
those who proposed it, and threatened death to any who in-
jured a M‘Gregor within his bounds. To mark his contempt,
he invited all the M‘Gregors in his neighbourhood to a great
feast that he prepared for them. But there was a traitor
in the camp : his wife had sent secret information to her
brother Lawers, and pointed out how, at one fell swoop, he
could destroy so many enemies. As dinner was not served
up as soon as Colin wished it, he sent his henchman to ask
the cause of the delay. The lady, forgetting herself, replied
quickly : “I expect my brother.” The reply was announced
in the hall; and the M‘Gregors, thinking they had been en-
trapped, rushed out, deaf to all Colin could say. It was
time : Lawers was crossing the ford below the castle, before
they gained the hill-side. Colin was disgraced on his own
hearth by his nearest friends. He had his revenge; for,,
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that night, his wife and son, by the second marriage, left
Glenlyon to return no more. The boy, known by the name
of Cuailean Lionnack, was brought up by his uncle Lawers.
Cairlean Gorach died about 1597.

Donnachadl Ruadh Mac Cailein (Red Duncan, the son of
Colin), followed his father’s footsteps in protecting the
M‘Gregors. After the battle of Glenfruin, the persecution
of the clan was renewed with tenfold severity. The story
of this battle, and the immediate cause which led to it, as T
learned from the grey-haired sennachies who knew the past,
is as follows: Before Marshal Wade paved the way for
carriers and stage-coaches, the Highlanders received all
their little necessaries and luxuries through the hands of
pedlars, who made regular visits to one or other of the large
towns, and brought back in their packs the articles chiefly
in demand at home. The pedlars, as a class, were of great
importance to the whole community, and Highland faith
and hospitality guaranteed to them security and good re-
ception wherever they went. Two pedlars of the M‘Gregors
of Dunan, in the Braes of Rannoch, were benighted while
on their way home from Glasgow, on the property of Sir
Humphrey Colquhoun of Luss. They asked hospitality,
which was refused. This churlishness was owing to the
quarrels of the Colquhouns with their neighbours, the
M‘Gregors of Glengyle; but the Colquhouns, in setting
limits to the hospitality asked, so far violated the conven-
tional and hereditary code of Highland morality, that the
pedlars deemed themselves justified in taking what was re-
fused. They kindled a fire in an unoccupied sheiling-house,
and taking a wedder from the fold, killed it, and feasted on
its carcase. Unluckily for them, the wedder was the most
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marked animal in the fold. It was black all but the tail,
which was white. In the morning, the shepherds missed at
once “ Mult dubk an earbail ghil —the black wedder with
the white tail. The pedlars were at once suspected, pur-
sued, captured, brought back, condemned, and hanged
without delay. The M‘Gregors could not tamely pass over
such an affront. Alastair of Glenstrae, the chief of the clan,
with about 300 men, left Rannoch in the beginning of the
year 1602, and encamped on the Colquhoun marches, He
proposed an accommodation, on condition that the Colqu-
houns acknowledged their fault, and made reparation to the
friends of the deceased by paying the blood erzc. Sir
Humphrey, having assembled a large force—composed of
Colquhouns, Buchanans, and the citizens of Dumbarton—
scorned the offers of peace. The battle of Glenfruin was
fought, Colquhoun’s party utterly routed ; and during the
fight, Dugald Ciar Mor, who quietly sleeps now in the
churchyard of Fortingall, stabbed a number of clerical stu-
dents who had come from Dumbarton to see the battle, and
had been consigned to his care by the chief. When the
latter inquired for the students, Dugald showed his bloody
dagger, and said : “ Ask that, and God’s mercy "—that being
the exclamation of the students when dying.

After this battle, the crusade against the clan raged with
irresistible fury. The Laird of Glenlyon dared no longer
openly protect them ; and his brave heart swelled to see
Lawers exultingly scouring the glen with his blood-hounds.
In secret, Duncan and his men did all they could to succour
the fugitives. One of the proscribed, by name Gregor Ban
Mor, after running the gauntlet for some time with his pur-
suer, and making more escapes than I can here describe, one
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day suddenly presented himself before Donnachadh M‘Cai-
lcin, and offered him his sword, bidding him do with him
what he liked, as he was weary of life. “Keep your sword,”
said Duncan ; “I do not pursue your clan. If you wish to
surrender, go to Lawers ; he knows how to mete out mercy
and justice to the M‘Gregors.” “To Lawers? and die the
death of a dog by the hands of a coward! No; since I
must die, let me receive the death-blow as a warrior should
—from a brave man.” “ By Mary! you say well ; will you
go to Lawers with a letter from me?” “I will” “Then
you will set out to-night, and, if he lets you go, be back to-
morrow at noon,” So said, so done. M‘Gregor, under the
safeguard of Glenlyon’s letter, presented himself to Lawers
in the morning, when making ready to renew the pursuit
after him. The cruel are gencrally cowardly ; and Lawers
was glad to let the enemy, now within his power, off scot
free, ere more harm came of it. M‘Gregor lost some time
on the way, and was an hour or two too late in appearing
before Glenlyon. He found the chieftain at the head of his
men, banner displayed, and pipe playing, on the point of
marching to Breadalbane, to revenge the supposed death of
the fugitive. Gregor explained. The chieftain smoothed
his ruffled brow, and said : “ It is well. Had it been other-
wise, ere night the house of Lawers would perish—stock,
shoot, and branch. Though in my quarrel with Black Dun-
can with the Cowl, kindred blood glues the sword to the
scabbard, thank Heaven ! there is no such bar to hinder my
revenge upon his minion Lawers.” This is the abridged
version of a story often yet told over the winter fire by the
old Highlanders. ‘ :
Sir Duncan Campbell of Glenorchy, or “ Black Duncan
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with the Cowl” (Donnachadl dubk a churraichd), the uncle of
M‘Cailein, was, according to the unvarying testimony of
Highland tradition, a character such as cannot here very
well be described. In high credit at the Court of James
VI, he easily obtained charters of the lands of the
M‘Gregors and other foolish chieftains, who continued to
hold their property by “ coir @ chlaidhcaml,” then set them
together by the ears, and, when weakened by mutual slaugh-
ter, by the power conferred upon him in the charters, or
under the pretext of preserving the public peace, he quietly
took possession of the belligerents’ land, which he ever
afterwards held by no slippery grasp. We may give one
example of his modus operandi. Fletcher of Achallader
had a small estate in the Braes of Glenorchy. Sir Duncan,
wishing to have the whole glen, took his measures to destroy
his neighbour, and, as usual, without implicating himself.
With some attendants—among whom was an English ser-
vant—he went, as if on a friendly visit, to the Laird of
Achallader. When near the house, he ordered the Eng-
lishman to go forward, and let the hungry horses loose in a
patch of corn on the haugh, and if any spoke to him, to give
no heed, as he would soon be forward himself, and sce
everything put to rights. The servant did as required.
Fletcher, astounded to see the man letting the horses
loose in his corn, called upon him, from one of the windows
of his house, to remove them immediately ; and, as he paid
no attention, threatened, with the irascibility of a High-
lander, to shoot him upon the spot. The Englishman, who
understood not a word, gave no sign of compliance ; and
Fletcher, in a transport of boundless rage, put his threat
into execution, and the servant fell. Sir Duncan took good
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care to be near enough to witness the tragedy. He showed to
Fletcher that his life had become forfeited to the law, that
there was no resource but immediate flight, and as his pro-
perty would be clearly lost, if remaining in his own name, he
advised him to make it over to him (Sir Duncan) by a kind
of fictitious sale then very prevalent, and he promised to
hold it in trust for him until he returned. Fletcher did as
advised, with many thanks; and the friendly Sir Duncan
efficiently provided against his ever returning to claim the
property.

The all-grasping knight could not at times keep his
fingers off the properties of the Sio/ Diarmid itself. As ob-
served before, the legal tenure of land was for long little
appreciated by the Celtic clans; and after claims to the
lower and more fertile places were settled and secured, the
mountain sheilings, used as summer pasture, remained often
a kind of commonty among the clansmen of different chief-
tains. Luban, in the braes of Glenlyon, was in this predica-
ment. The Laird of Glenlyon claimed it by prescriptive right.
Sir Duncan advanced counter claims as King’s forester. The
quarrel, some time in abeyance, was brought to a crisis
by M‘Cailein building a shepherd’s hut on the disputed
ground. Sir Duncan, whose genius lay rather in the tricks
of diplomacy than in the rough jousting of war, proposed a
friendly conference to settle all disputes on the spot. M‘Cai-
lein came on the appointed day with the stipulated number
of twelve armed attendants ; but what was his amazement
to find his uncle and a hundred men in arms before him at
the obnoxious hut! He saluted him, however, as though
no treachery were intended. Sir Duncan, with the cold
smile his countenance usually assumed, pointed to his men,
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and in studied terms showed his claims, and exhorted his
kinsman peacefully to drop all opposition. M‘Cailein stood
before the wily man, his brow clouded with anger, but
firmly self-confident. With an effort at self-control, he
heard him uninterruptedly to the end, but not without pay-
ing dear. The point of his unsheathed sword rested on his
soft brogue, and unconsciously he kept boring with it until
brogue and foot were equally pierced through. “Now give
thy say for peace, fair nephew,” concluded Sir Duncan.
“Never!” fiercely replied M‘Cailein. “What,” said the
knight— what can you hope to do with your pitiful twelve
against my hundred? My men, pull down the hut”
“Whatever a man of clean /eart may against a craven
treacherous fox “—making a spring, clutching Sir Duncan
by the throat, and brandishing his sword. “1I shall have
your life first, and as many other lives afterwards as I can.”
His men now could do little for the knight; for M‘Cailein,
at their slightest movement to rescue him, threatened to
plunge his sword in their captain’s breast, and they knew he
was the man to keep his word. Sir Duncan begged pardon,
and obtained it. His parting words were: “ St. Martin,
nephew ”"—(by-the-bye, how or when did Martin of Tours
become a chief Scottish Saint ?)—“ I will not risk my good
against your violence ; but of me will yet come those who
shall possess Luban.” Magician as he was counted to be,
these words did not prove prophetic.

But Sir Duncan, if a magician himselt, did not approve
of ‘magic in others. On one occasion, when clan necessity
had thrown him and his nephew together, an Italian wizard
accosted Sir Duncan, offering to show him wonders. The
knight pooh-poohed, and told him to go to M‘Cailein, add-
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ing he was ready to gape at his impostures. He did as
advised ; and the chieftain, pleased at the man’s perform-
ance—who, from his pretensions, appears to have been a
Rosicrucian—gave him what money was in the sporran.
The Italian, touched at the liberality, offered M‘Cailein a
miraculous stone, said to be preserved yet in the family of
Garden of Troup, that through the female line became
heirs-at-law to Dr. David Campbell, the last Laird of Glen-
lyon. It was called, in the language of the country,
“ clach-buadha "—stone of victory——because water off this
stone, when sprinkled by the heir of Glenlyon upon his men
before entering battle, ensured them success. It was also
reckoned a charm against ball wounds, lead being supposed
to have no effect on those sprinkled by it. This became
apocryphal, at least after the battle of Sheriffmuir, in which
several of the Glenlyon men fell by musket wounds. It
was one property of this stone, that, when put into cold
water, it caused it to bubble as if boiling.

Red Duncan was not as prudent as he was brave. The
following gambling story I give as I received it. Some
law plea had brought M‘Cailein to Edinburgh. Hav-
ing nothing else to do, he entered a gambling-house, and
sat down to play at cards with the master. M‘Cailein lost
game after game ; but, as if taking pleasure in seeing him-
self plucked, he continued to play. When his cash was
gone, he rose to depart. “Come,” said the gambler, “ you
have lost often ; let us have another game, and, to give you
your revenge, I don’t mind though I stake two to one.”
“My sporran is turned inside out,” replied he. *Never
mind ; T'll stake cash against your word, chief, if you pledge
it” “No; the word of a Highland chief is pledged only
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among those who know it shall be redeemed. He speaks
in deeds to the suspicion of the strangers. Here are the
title-deeds of my property (I had to produce them before
your Red Lords to-day) ; I'll stake them, subject to redemp-
tion within forty days, on this game.” Itisover. M‘Cai-
lein rises: his brow is flushed ; he grasps the gambler’s
hand, making the blood start at the nails ; his voice sounds
as a muffled drum, or like the ghost of the storm. ¢ The
home of my fathers is yours, and may the devil give you
joy of it. But when taking possession, encase yourself in
steel. The land is yours; but, mark me, the men are mine.
A Saxon cowherd may be baron. God forbid he can be
chief. Adieu!”

The time was short, money scarce, and, however willing,
M‘Cailein’s friends were unable, within the appointed
period, to raise the sum necessary. Sir Duncan is said to
have been applied to in vain. The crest-fallen Laird re-
turned to Edinburgh empty-handed. When about entering
the gambling-house, to see what was going on, the servant-
maid took him aside, and asked (in Gaelic) whether he was
the gentleman that, a month before, lost. his property at
cards. Being answered in the affirmative, she said : “ Well,
I am sorry for you, and will do all I can to help you. Don’t
enter just now ; go somewhere, and disguise yourself. Re-
turn, and when I tell you, enter. You will find the room
empty; place yourself in the chair opposite the mirror.
You shall see in it what cards your opponent holds. He'll
dare not ask you to leave his chair ; and it’s hard if I can’t
trump up a story to make him play at any venture.
M‘Cailein did as directed, and won one game after another.
The gambler refused to play any longer, as his money was
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all lost. “Come,” said M‘Cailein, “I leave Edinburgh to-
morrow. I’ll stake my whole gains on the next game.” “I
have nothing,” said the other, “but the title-deeds of a
Highland property, which I won the other day, and are sub-
ject to redemption.” ¢ What is the name of the place?”
“Glenlyon, I think.” ¢ Glenlyon and M‘Cailein! I know
them well. Make sieves of your parchments at the first
opportunity ; the glen people are real devil’s bairns. Set
up a claim against M‘Cailein, and you'll have a dozen dirks
in your body ere night.” “But you accept the stake, I
hope?” “Well, Ido, though it is throwing bread upon the
water.” Red Duncan was again the winner; and, as he
pocketed his money and papers, he told his astonished op-
ponent who he was. Coming home, he met his relative Sir
Duncan, ez route for Edinburgh, to buy Glenlyon for him-
self.

Duncan M‘Cailein died at an advanced age, about 1640.
I find no trace of it in local tradition, but he, more probably
than any of his ancestors—certainly than any of his descend-
ants—was the hero of the old ballad—

¢‘ Bonnie Babby Livingstane
Gaed oot tae see the kye,

And she has met with Glenlyon,
Who has stolen her away.

¢ He took frae her her sattin coat,
But an her silken gown,
Syne row’d her in his tartan plaid,

LR

And happ’d her roun’ an’ roun’.



IV.

RCHIBALD, the eldest son of Donnackadr Ruadl,
married, in 1631, Jean, the daughter of Robert
Campbell of Glenfalloch, who, on the death of his elder
brother, Sir Colin, became Sir Robert Campbell of Glen-
orchy. He was the second son of Black Duncan, and the
grandfather of the first Earl of Breadalbane, called by
the country people, “Jain Glas”—that is, “Pale John.”
Archibald’s eldest son, Robert, the commander at Glencoc,
was born in 1632. The family estate, much burdened by the
imprudent extravagance of Duncan, was relieved of almost
all the claims upon it, in a few years, by the fostering care
of Archibald, to whom the father had given up the entire
management in his own lifetime. But Archibald was not
destined to reap the benefit of his wisdom, or realise his
plans of ambition and family aggrandisement. He died
suddenly about 1640, a few years before his father. The
aged Duncan reappeared upon the stage, and his first act
was characteristic of the man : it was granting a bond for
1oco merks to Patrick Campbell of Murlaganbeg, who
married his daughter Grace or Girsell.

Between 1640 and 1654, when Robert Campbell attained
his majority, Glenlyon was under a tutor and a minor.
The Lady Glenlyon, as she was called, sedulously kept free
from taking any part in the civil war of that troubled epoch.
Her tenants, however, following their own inclination, and
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the known sentiments of their dead chieftain, joined the
standard of Montrose under Patrick Roy M‘Gregor, the chief
of his clan, and the Lady of Glenlyon’s second husband.
Montrose showed his gratitude to the Glenlyon men, by
sparing their lands and houses, when, on his march to Ar-
gyle, he mercilessly laid waste Breadalbane and other pos-
sessions of Campbell of Glenorchy. In 1655, when Robert
was 23 years of age, Cromwell had Scotland prostrated by
the victories of Dunbar and Worcester ; Ireland paralysed
by the butcheries of Tredah and Wexford—her very pulse
of life repressed by the inflexible severity of Ireton, and the
pushing energy of Ludlow ; England beginning to enjoy
the sweets of peace, and content to let her magnanimous
Protector dissolve the phantom Parliament, and sternly
inculcate lessons of toleration on jarring sects. Her naval
strength broken, Holland now sued for peace ; Blake scoured
the Mediterranean, threatened the Pope, humbled the Duke
of Tuscany, and made his name a terror to the dusky war-
riors of Tunis and Algiers. The daring usurper, secure at
home, admired abroad, could at the same time, and with
equal ease, exact the obsequiousnss of Mazarin, browbeat
the court of France, execute the brother of the Portuguese
ambassador on Towerhill, hold out the hand of friendship to
Protestant Sweden, and aim a death-blow at the haughtiness
of Spain. The hapless heir of loyalty, an outcast from his
country, his services refused by the Dutch, disowned and
banished by the court of France, lavishing on sensual and
degrading debaucheries the sums doled out to the princely
beggar by royal hands, seemed by his very vices to have
taken a bond of fate, for shutting him out for ever from
succeeding to the British throne. Still, through his exile
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and follies, the national eye of Scotland followed with fond
desire the heir of her hundred kings. The Covenanters and
Highlanders met at last on common ground : these hoping,
on the exaltation of Charles, to expiate the affront offered to
the whole Celtic race by the expulsion of the Stuarts ; those
hoping, under a Prince who had signed the Covenant, to re-
cover their lost theological supremacy and independence—
both trusting to retrieve the honour of their country, and re-
cover the martial wreath lost at Worcester and Dunbar,
During Cromwell’s domination, the spirit of loyalty among
the Campbells themselves attained such strength as to
quench personal feuds and enmities of long standing. The
first thing in which we find the name of Robert Campbell is
a precept of Clare Constat, from Sir Robert Campbell of
Glenorchy to Robert Campbell of Glenlyon, dated 2oth July,
1655. The son of Black Duncan witle the Cowland the grand-
son of M‘Cailein became fast friends in their eagerness to
serve their Prince. Monk, who appears to have been well
aware of the intrigues among the clans, prudently provided
against any opportunity of an outbreak,and with such success
as to be able, whenever he pleased, down to the end of the
Protectorate, to date his despatches from the Castle of Fin-
larig ; but as he passively connived at loyal movements, if
he not actually fostered them, it seems highly probable he
wished the spirit to spread, and the knowledge that such
materials for a royal army existed in Scotland certainly in-
fluenced his conduct on the death of Oliver.

Perhaps it was unfortunate for the laird of Glenlyon that
war did not break out ; as it was, young and comparatively
rich, he plunged headlong into the pleasures of the Resto-
ration, and soon reduced himself to difficulties from which
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an age of repentance could not extricate him. Before the
establishment of banks, almost all monetary exchange was
carried on through heritable and personal bonds. A wanted
money ; he applied to B, who lent him a bond upon D suf-
ficient to pay the debt, for which A granted to B his own
bond, redeemable at a certain date, and burdened with a
penalty in case of failure. In this case, say that B repre-
sents the bank, and the bond upon D bank-notes, which are
in effect bonds payable on demand. Now, as there is con-
siderable risk, A’s bond must not only cover the sum ad-
vanced, with the usual adrent and penalty, but also a 1arther
sum to indemnify B for the risk he runs in surrendering to
A the bond upon D, or his bank-notes, in exchange for A’s
bond. A is a landed proprietor; he grants in course of
time to B, and others, several similar bonds. B quarrels
with A, and buys up all the bonds granted by the latter to
others ; the amount of these, and of those he himself holds,
he claims from A. A is well aware that his lands are worth
ten times the sum, but as he cannot realise the money, and
letters of horning and caption are out against him at B’s
instance, he is obliged to wadset his lands to the latter, re-
serving the power of redemption for a certain number of
years. At the end of that time, A cannot pay, and B be-
comes the permanent lord of the manor. The extreme
facility in granting, and the always increasing difficulties in
reclaiming, ruined probably more of the British nobility and
gentry in the reign of Charles II. than the whole number
the sword had cut off of their class in England during the
bloody war of the Roses.

Robert, about 1670, married Helen Lindsay, and put the
copestone on his imprudent extravagance by commencing
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extensive alterations and repairs on his castle of Meggernie,
originally built by his great-grandfather, Cailean Gorach.
The repairs were finishedin 1673, and at the same time his
credit was exhausted. His unreclaimed bonds were many,
and the holders clamorous for payment. The machinery of
the law was set in motion against him, and we find in that
year “Qur Sovereign Lord” ordaining a letter to be made
under his Majesty’s privy seal of a signature of the estate
and liferent of Robert Campbell of Glenlyon, in favour of
Patrick Stewart of Ballaguhine. A compromise was, how-
ever, entered into. The splendid fir forests of Glenlyon
were sold to a company of merchants, at the head of which
was a certain Captain John Crawford. This relieved Robert
of the more pressing claims. Yet it was with grief and in-
dignation he saw his woods, the relics of the great Cale-
donian forest, destroyed by the stranger ; and he was glad
when Crawford had trespassed on the jointure lands of his
mother, to have a chance to stop him in name of the law, as
follows:—“At Milton of Glenlyon, the twenty-eight day of
Jully, jm.vic. and seventy-seven years—which day,in presence
of me, notary public, and witnesses underwritten, compeared
personally Robert Campbell of Glenlyon, as factor for Jean
Campbell, Lady Glenlyon elder, his mother, and having in
his hands ane factory made and granted by her to him for
acting and doing for her in everything, &c. ; and anent her
hurts and prejudices done to her by Captain John Crawford,
by cutting and destroying the ground, cornes, and grass
pertaining to her, as part of her jointure out of the lands of
Glenlyon, and damming and stopping the water of Lyon,
and the fishing thereof, and also in sending down by the

said water the timber of two thousand of great fir planks in
c
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one bulk, which dammed the whole water in several places
thereof, and hindered the whole fishing of the said river for
the space of last year. Wherefore the said Robert Camp-
bell, day and date thereof, said place where the said Captain
John Crawford and said workmen are now working at said
work, made civil interruption, and desired them. and the
rest of their company to desist and cease: * * * And
in like manner protested against the said Captain John
Crawford, for cutting of the said woods and laying the same
in great heaps, and keeping a great fire thereat, and burning
of the same in manifest contempt and prejudice, &c. And
in like manner forbad these things now done on Druim-
an-lochane, in Milton of Eonan in Glenlyon, between three
and four hours in the afternoon. * * *” The mention
of the great fires kept in the woods will explain to the
Glenlyon men why the stocks of fir, which they disentomb
from the moss for their winter light, are mostly all charred,
and, as the date is known, it affords an excellent mark for
determining the growth of the moss itself. The “civil in-
terruption ” of the legal instrument was not quick enough
in its operation to please the Glenlyon people. The dam
was broken, and the sawmill set on fire one fine summer
evening, and I have heard in boyhood a song in which it
was commemorated :— Mar loisg iad na daimh chrochdach
air bord a mhuilinn shabhaidh”—i.e., “How they burned the
wide-horned oxen on the boards of Crawford’s sawmill ;”’
it being oxen that he used, instead of horses, for dragging
the wood. Crawford had made himself extremely unpopular.
His sawmill was erected at first on the same stream with
Eonan’s mill ; and, as the water was not sufficient to keep
the two going together, many an unlucky wight had long
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to wait Crawford’s high behest before his corn could be
ground. It happened once that an honest man had so
wasted the whole day, and still there was no appearance of
the sawmill being stopped: Meantime, two or three of the
neighbours dropped in to have a crack ; the mill, the smithy,
and the kirk being then, as afterwards, the places for
the exchange of news. As they entered into conversation,
the man who wanted his corn ground, addressing one of the
new-comers—who was believed to have the gift of the evil
eye—said: “Well, Callum, I'll give you something, if you go
up to Crawford’s mill and praise it.” Callum did go, and,
looking at the saw, praised it very much. Crawford, well
pleased, was at pains to show him how the wheels worked.
Unhappy man! under the blasting influence of the evil eye,
the machinery got entangled, the saw-wheel broke, and a
splinter, striking a workman in the face, deprived him of an
eye! Itis needless to add, Crawford’s mill came to a dead
stand, and the countryman got his meal made—thanks to
the potent influence of the Beun:-sul.

I have mentioned above how the families of Glenorchy
and Glenlyon were reconciled: The good old Sir Robert
appears to have purchased his grandson’s goodwill partly by
granting him a leasehold tack of some of his lands in Lorne.
We find Sir Robert’s successor, Sir John, in 1662, recover-
ing these lands on payment of a certain sum of money to
Glenlyon, whose expenses were already exceeding his in-
come. We have shown how a man could be ruined by the
bond system of exchange. Now, it is evident in the case
of a man of tact, cunning, and prudence, the converse was
just as easy and certain. Sir John Campbell of Glenorchy,
inheriting the talents and intriguing spirit of his ancestor,



36 THE LAIRDS OF GLENLYON.

Sir Duncan, rather than the quiet, friendly disposition of
his father and grandfather—and having, as described by
Mackay, “ the gravity of a Spaniard, the cunning of a fox,
the wisdom of a serpent, and the slipperiness of an eel —
was for the last 40 years of his life perhaps the most im-
portant character of the north. Courted for his influence
and ability, he cheated James and William in turns, exe-
cuted his own projects under the mask of their authority,
and veiled treachery and treason with such cleverness as
always to evade punishment, often suspicion ; he was the
Fouché of the Highlands. Buying up a great many bonds
granted by George Sinclair, 6th Earl of Caithness, whose
widow he afterwards married as his second wife, he
served himself that nobleman’s chief creditor, and obtained
a disposition from him of his whole estate and earldom,
with the hereditary jurisdiction and titles. When the Earl
died in 1676, Sir John’s claim was acknowledged by Govern-
ment, and he was created—by patent, dated 28th June,
1677—Earl of Caithness. The next heir male of the house
of Caithness—George Sinclair of Keiss—contested his claim,
and the Caithness men refused to pay rent to Sir John, or
acknowledge him as Earl. In 1677 or 1678, Sir John, now
Earl of Caithness, granted to Robert Campbell a bond for
5000 pounds (Scots of course) ; and in the year 1680, Glen-
lyon, at the head of the Breadalbane and Glenlyon men,
entered Caithness in hostile array to reduce the refractory
Sinclairs to obedience. The raid is named Ruwaig Ghallu
—the rout of Caithness. Gallu is still the name given
by the Highlanders to Caithness, on account of its having
been possessed by the Scandinavians, a remarkable instance
of the use that could be made of the names of places in the
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study of ethnology. The Sinclairs, it appears, expected the
invasion, and were fully prepared to meet it. In such force
did they muster, that Glenlyon and his friends did not deem
an immediate trial of strength advisable. The Campbells
began a sham retreat, the Caithness men following in full pur-
suit, till the foe retired from their bounds. The Sinclairs
then halted at a village on the confines of the earldom, and
made a happy night of it, drinking generous mountain dew
to excess in honour of their success, and to the confusion o
enemics—the very thing the wily Campbell wanted. In
the early morning, he surprised the disorderly mob,
killed a great number, utterly routed the remainder,
pushed on without intermission, and drove off the unguarded
creack without further let or hindrance. The women and
children—the only persons left at home—were fearfully
roused from their morning slumbers by the exulting strains
of Glenlyon’s piper, who, to give greater ec/at to the affair,
improvised for the occasion the pibroch called “ Bodaic
nam Briogan”—i.e., Carles in Trousers; the latter being the
lower habiliments of the Caithness men, in contradistinction
to the kilts of the Gael. In the following version of some
of the Glenlyon words to this pibroch, I have attempted
nothing like a literal translation, but I trust something of
the spirit is preserved, so as to give the reader ignorant of
Gaelic some idea of the jubilant strain of triumph in the
original :—
BODAICH NAM BRIOGAN, OR BREADALBANE'S MARCH.

‘Women of the lonely glen,

Are ye sleeping, sleeping then?

When Glenlyon’s hostile lance

Routs in hundreds all at once.
Bodaich nam Briogan, early?






V.

HE spirit of clanship, aggressive beyond its own pale,
was strictly conservative within. The chief of a
large clan felt it as much his bounden duty to see to the
stability and welfare of the chieftains, as they, in their turn,
were obliged to look to the happiness and preservation of
their dependents. It has already been shown how Robert
Campbell involved himself in difficulties that proved
insurmountable. He struggled on for a few years;
but, sinking deeper and deeper, recourse was ultimately had
to the Comhairl’-taighe of the clan of Diarmid. The fol-
lowing deed, by which the chief, and the next most
powerful nobleman of the clan, were nominated trustees, in
order, if possible, to restore the Laird of Glenlyon to
his former independence, was the result. The document
s given, as far as it can be deciphered, literatim et ver-
batim —

“ Be it kend to all men be thir present Letters, Me Robert Campbell
of Glenlyon, Forsameikle as I considering, That ¥yr are severall debts,
soumes of monney, and oyr incumberances affecting and burdeineing
my Lands and others belonging to me, tending to the apparent ruine
and distructione of my esteat and fortoune, iff not tymously prevented
by prudent and wholsome councill and advyce ; And yt it is simply

and altogether impossible for me, be my-self allon, to take course with
the sd debts and incumberances, and to manadge my affaires and con-

* In most documents older than 1700, and in not a few of later date, the character “‘y”
vepresents the alphabet letters *“ th,”
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cernements, so as to freile relieve, and disburden my Lands and esteat
yrof, without the councill, advyce, and concurrence of some of my good
freinds in whom I repose my trust. And lykeways understanding how
easie I may be circumveined and deceived in the management of my
affaires, by subtile and craftie persones, who have designes upon me,
and may intyse me to the dilapidatione of my Lands, rents, goods, and
geir, to my great hurt and prejudice ; And I being fully persuaded,
and haveing good prooff and experience, off the love and kyndnes my
noble and reale freinds, Archibald, Earle off Argyle, and John, Earle
off Caithnes, have towards me, and for the standing of my familie,
whose advyce and councill I now resolve to use, and be whom I am
heirefter to be governed in all my affaires and business. Thairfor witt
ye me to be bound and obleidged, Lykeas I, be thir prts, faithfully bind
and obleidge me, noways to sell, annailzie, wad-set, dispone, dilapidat,
nor putt away, non of my Lands, heretages, nor rents, tacks, haddings,
possessiones, goods and geir, moveable and imoveable, to whatsom-
ever persone or persones, nor to make noe privat nor publict disposi-
tiones, resignationes, remunerationes, assignationes, translationes, dis-
chairges, nor any oyr right yrof, nor of no pairt of the same, nor to
make any contracts, bonds, obligationes, or oyr writts, qrby the same
in haill or in pairt, may be wasted, apprysed, or adjudged ; nor con-
tract debt, nor make * * * nor bargaines, nor doe any oyr fact nor
deed anent the premises without the joint advyce, consent, and assent
of my fsd noble and reale freinds, Archibald, Earle of Argyle, and
John, Earle of Caithnes, and, in case of any of their deceases, with
the consent of the surviver first hade and obtained yrt in writt. With-
out whose consent as fsd, and in case of any of their deceases, with-
out consent of the surviver, I shall doe nothing concerneing the pre-
mises. Wheirin if I faillie, or doe in the contrarie, I doe heirby will
and declaire, that all such deeds soe to be done be me shall be voyd
and null in themselves, as if the same hade never bein made, and yt
be way of escruptione or reply, without necessitie of any dcclarator to
follow yrupone. And for the more securitie, I am content and consent
thir prts be regrat in the books of Councill and Sessione, or any oyr
books competent to have the streanth of ane dect- of the Lords or
Judges yrof underponed yrto—that letters of publicatione and others
necessar in forme as effeires may be direct theirupone ; and to that
effect constitute ——— my prcrs. 1n witnes grof, I have subt. thir
prts. (written by Colin Campbell, procr in Edin®) with my hand at
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witnesses—James Currie and Sir William Binning, late Provest of
Edinr the fyft of (August) jm- vic. and eightie-one yeires, befor thir
Edin~ and Sir Patrick Threip-Land, late Provest of Perth, * * and
witnes my hand, R. CAMPBELL, off Glenlyon.

James Currie, Witnes.

W. Binning, Witnes.

P. Thriep-Land, Witnes.”

The month in the attesting clause is partly obliterated,
but appears to be what is given above ; and, if so, it was
exactly 24 days after Argyle’s imprisonment. This is no
cause for surprise. The Laird saw in his imprisonment
nothing but a slight cloud, from which the chief would
emerge with undimmed brightness. The astute Breadal-
bane, who guaged to a nicety the plots and counterplots of
those miserable days, perceived at a glance that all was over
with the Earl; for the Duke of York never forgave an
affront, and the free-spoken and patriotic Argyle had
affronted him deeply on the subject of the test. Breadal-
bane, who had already broken off with the chief of the clan,
was in high favour with the party in power, and within
seven days after the above factory was signed—the Parlia-
ment settling, very favourably for him, the dispute between
him and Sinclair of Keiss—he exchanged the title of Caith-
ness for that of Breadalbane and Holland. The Red Doug-
lases succeeded the Black ; and when the star of Argyle
was sinking, why should not that of Breadalbane arise?
Nothing hindered it certainly, but that the chieftains of the
name had a very strong prejudice against rallying around
any other banner but Macaileinmore’s. His future deeds
show clearly that Breadalbane aimed at succeeding to the in-
fluence, if not to the property, of the Argyles, and the fore-
going is just a specimen of the way he went about breaking
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in the chieftains to his will. The family of Glenlyon, more
nearly related than almost any other, was traditionally
hostile to his, and the present Laird, though in his meshes,
was not uniformly docile ; at any rate, there was no harm
in making assurance double sure ; and so the foregoing was
one of the many moves in the game he played for the
leadership of the clan. The Revolution, as it finally upset
all his plans, taught Breadalbane that “the best laid schemes
of mice and men gang oft ajee;” but even after that, he
showed he had not given up the darling hope of his life in
despair. To relieve Glenlyon immediately was no part of
Breadalbane’s policy, which, to a great extent, might have
been done by simply paying, what was his due, the bond of
5000 pounds granted to him for the expedition to Caithness
This was not done; indeed, it was not all paid up at the Earl’s
death in 1716. Glenlyon traditions go much farther than
this in accusing the Earl; but I have confined myself to
what, as regards the facts, can be proved, for, much as he
wished to make the Laird a useful and obedient dependent,
I cannot see how, at this time at least, it would have sub-
served Breadalbane’s interest—and he always looked to his
interest—to put an extinguisher on the family of Glenlyon ;
and I am the more confirmed in this opinion, as he did the
family at a later period, when they were too reduced to be
feared, some acts of real kindness, and as the successor of
Robert Campbell confided in him as his friend and patron.

It is delightful to find that, when deserted by those who
ought to have supported him, the M‘Gregors repaid with
grateful devotion the protection extended to their ancestors
by Colin Gorach and his brave son. After more than a
century of persecution and wrong—by which the clan had
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been nearly extinguished, and lost all their possessions—it
was not to be expected that they could command much
money.

¢ But, doomed and devoted by vassal and lord,
The M‘Gregors had still both their heart and their sword.”

Their little hoard was heartily at Campbell’s service, and
he availed himself of it without scruple. The following,
among others, at different periods between 1673 and 1700,
advanced sums varying from 100 to 300 merks each, to the
distressed family of Glenlyon—viz,, Duncan M‘Gregors
corrector to the press, Savoy, London ; Duncan Menzies,
late M‘Gregor, Ardlarich, Rannoch; Janet M‘Gregor, In-
nervar, Glenlyon; Duncan Murray, late M‘Gregor, Roro,
Glenlyon; Archibald M‘Gregor, Ardlarich, Rannoch. The
clan at this time was completely broken, without chief or
chieftain, and, in the majority of cases, obliged to assume
other names. The M‘Gregors, unlike the other creditors,
patiently waited for twenty or thirty years, till the Glen-
lyon family could conveniently repay them, without having
recourse to any legal coercion.

Argyle—condemned through a most shameless perver-
sion of justice—when preparations were made for his exe-
cution, escaped from the Castle of Edinburgh, December,
1681, disguised as the page of his daughter-in-law, Sophia
Lindsay. In passing the sentry at the gate, the Earl is
said to have been so agitated as to let the lady’s train drop
in the mud, which she, with admirable presence of mind,
snatching up, and scolding the pretended page as a care-
less loun, threw it into his face, thereby besmearing his fea-
tures beyond all recognition. During his exile in Holland
was hatched that ill-assorted plan of descent upon Eng-
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land and Scotland which brought Argyle and Monmouth
to the scaffold. Argyle arrived at Tobermory, in Mull, in
May, 1683, and after a series of disasters, was taken pri-
soner near Dumbarton, in June, and beheaded at Edin-
burgh on the 26th of the same month, without the formality
of a new trial. The fate of the chief—as Breadalbane
was either unable or unwilling to succour him—Ieft the
Laird of Glenlyon without hope or refuge. His tenants
were made aware of his difficulties. They laid their heads
together, and, coming in a body, offered to give the Laird
Leath-baick (half their byres), that is, the half of their cattle,
for, from the earliest times downwards, cattle constituted
the wealth of the Highlands. Campbell, justly proud of
this splendid proof of attachment to his family, yet hesi-
tated to accept their offer. He consulted his relative,
Duncan Campbell, Roroyare, afterwards of Duneaves, who
strongly advised him not to receive the gift, but rather sell
a part of the property to pay the debts, and have the
remainder free ; “for,” says he, “ take their cattle, and you
are forever their slave; you cannot claim an additional
kain-hen without their concurrence.” It may be added, in
explanation, that originally the chiefs levied no regular
rent, but were solely supported by the self-imposed and
voluntary contributions agreed upon by the clansmen
themselves, according to their opinion of the exigency of
the need. The feudal charters that many of them had
early obtained were calculated to strengthen against
oppression from without, and also to arm them with powers
to oppress within. The voluntary rate was called Ca/za,
while the feudal rent was named Keain. In 1685, feudal
tenure was so little popular in Glenlyon, that the idea
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of a chieftain alienating his lands was scarcely understood,
and leases were altogether unknown, each man succeeding
to his father’s holding, unmolested by the Laird as long as
he paid the customary calpa and followed him in war;
while the spirit of clanship was so strong as to dictate an
offer like the preceding, for maintaining the standing of
an ancient family. Robert finally decided upon not de-
spoiling his tenants, and, consequently, upon selling the
bulk of his property. But as he was jealous of the
interested motives of some gentlemen of his own clan—his
friendly adviser and near relative especially—he deter-
mined no Campbell should succeed him. The whole estate
of Glenlyon—Chesthill and the other jointure lands of his
wife excepted—was privately sold to Lord Murray, Earl of
Tullibardine, afterwards Duke of Athole. Soon after it
became known that the glen was to be sold, the Laird was
present at a deer-hunt in the Braes, when the deer, hard
beset, took to the loch, which, as it is of no great extent,
was immediately surrounded by keen sportsmen. It hap-
pened, in the cross-firing which followed, that Robert had
a very narrow escape from being killed by a stray ball
On telling his escape, when the men congregated after the
hunt, an old retainer of the family sharply turned round,
and asked, “ Where did it strike?” “Between my legs,”
replied the Laird. “ Would to heaven,” exclaimed the old
man, “it had been between your loins, for then Glenlyon
would not be sold.”

On the 14th March, 1689, the Convention of the Estates,
called together by circular letters from the Prince of Orange,
already acknowledged King of England, met at Edinburgh.
Momentous events, big with the fate of Scotland, followed
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in rapid succession. Duke Gordon, at the instigation of
Dundee, refuses to deliver up the Castle to the Convention;
the King’s friends are outvoted, and Duke Hamilton
chosen president; William’s letter is received, that of
James read only under protest; the royalists prepare to
withdraw from the Convention, and to convenec a counter
meeting at Stirling ; Athole wavers ;. Dundee’s life is
threatened, and he leaves Edinburgh and bursts into the
North. Eluding the vigilance of Mackay, he makes Loch-
aber his muster ground, and warns the Jacobites to assemble
there in force on the 18th of May. In the interval, he
comes himself to Athole, and confirms the Atholemen, pro-
bably by the connivance of their marquis, in their allegiance
to King James. He makes an irruption as far as Dundee,
surprising Perth on the way, and nearly taking Dundee.
Returning to the mustering place, he leads the clans
into Athole, and fixes upon Strowan for his head-quarters.
Mackay, baffled in the north, has returned to Edinburgh,
and by his prudence and sagacity restored confidence to
the alarmed Convention. Afraid of allowing Dundec
time to recruit from all parts of the Highlands, and the
disaffected districts of the Lowlands—for which the central
position of Athole afforded unusual facilities—Mackay,
with a hardihood that does him credit, determined to
attack the foe in his mountain fastnesses. Marching from
Perth with an army nearly double that of Dundee, he
penetrated the Pass of Killiecrankie without opposition,
but there a defeat awaited him such as seldom befel a
general. The battle of Killiecrankie restored to James all
beyond the Forth ; and, looking to the probabilities of the
case, nothing could have saved the rest of Scotland from a
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similar fate, had not the levin-bolt been quenched in the
blood of Dundee. Cannan, who succeeded him, was alto-
gether unworthy of his position ; and, by the little trust the
clans had in his abilities, and his own remissness allowed
all the fruits of the victory to escape from his grasp.
Among those who preserved a dubious neutrality while
these things were taking place—but who would undoubtedly
have joined the royalists had Dundee outlived his victory—
was the Earl of Breadalbane. In a letter to the Laird of
M‘Leod, dated Moy, June 23rd, 1689, Dundee says—“1
had almost forgot to tell you of my Lord Broadalbin, who,
I suppose, will now come to the fields.” But he was soon
better informed ; for, in a letter to Lord Melfort, four days
after, he says—“ Earl Breadalbin keeps close in a strong
hous ; he has and pretends the gout.” The difference in
the spelling almost proves, that, in the interval, Dundee
had received a written missive from the Earl, who had
then commenced to spell his name as in the second letter,
in preference to the older mode, previously used by Dundee.
The truth is, Pale Jokn, as he was called in the Highlands,
did not wish to see the family of Argyle re-established by
the Revolution, and his own expanding influence contracted
thereby. He, therefore, desired well for the royalists, but
was too wise a man to risk his all, until victory had irre-
vocably chained success to their banners. After the death of
Argyle in 1685, and the sale of the greater part of his own
patrimony, which was nearly contemporaneous, the Laird
of Glenlyon submitted to the chain his fathers had spurned,
and became a most obedient dependent of Breadalbane ;
and in this great national crisis especially identified himself
with the latter’s policy—viz, like him, remained at home.
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Immediately after the battle of Killiecrankie, when neutrals
and foes dreaded alike the depredations and vengeance of
the victorious clans, the Laird obtained the following pro-
tection from Cannan, the successor of Dundee, which, from
motives of delicacy in allowing him to choose his own
party, is granted in name of his wife, but is addressed “ To
the Laird of Glenlyon,” and runs thus :—

“Thes are dischairging all, upon sight heirof, from troubling,
molesting, wronging, or injurying the person of Helen Linsay, Lady
Glenlyon, hir Bairnes, or servants, or annie goods or gear properlie
belonging to hir self ; and whoever contravein, shall not only repair
the damadge, bot shall be punised according to justice. Given under

my hand at lochend, the second day off Agust, jm- vic. and eightie-
nein, H. W. CANAN.”

Appended is a note from the Laird of M‘Naughton :—

¢ Cussen—I received yours, and have proquired this above-written
protection, and what service I can doe you, or your familie, shall not be
omitted by him who is your most affectionate Cussen & Servant,
“J. M‘NACHTAN.

‘‘ Pray haste to the stander with all your men.”

“ We shall see hereafter how far this protection availed for
the purpose for which it was granted.



VI.

HEN Dundee fled from the Convention, “Coll

of the Cows,” the head of the M‘Donalds of Kep-

poch, was pursuing with relentless fury the broken host of
the Mackintoshes, his ancient foes, and was, on the arrival
of the Viscount in the north, threatening to sack Inverness.
On receiving a large sum of money from the town, as com-
pensation for alleged injuries, Coll and the citizens were re-
conciled through the intervention of Dundee,and both joined
in supportingthe Jacobite interest. An attemptwas made to
include the Mackintoshes in the general reconciliation, but
Coll rated his friendship at such a high value as to render
the attempt abortive. The Keppoch Chieftain was so en-
raged at the refractory spirit of Mackintosh, that, with the
forced connivance of the high-souled Graham, he drove away
all his cattle, mostof which werekeptamong hisownretainers.
When Coll took such liberty under the eye of an energetic
general, whose dearest plans were thereby put in peril, how
could he be controlled by the weak, unpopular Cannan ?
Soon after the battle of Killiecrankie, several of the clans
left the white standard to go to their several homes with
the spoils gathered during the campaign. Coll of Keppoch
left with his own men, and the M‘Ians of Glencoe, his con-
federates, in October. Determined to gather their winter
mart in going home, and aware they could not do so with

any propriety or hope of success in the land of the Robert-
D
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sons, who had fought with them under Dundee, they came
round by Glenlyon, and gratified their love of plunder and
their inveterate hatred to the Campbells, by harrying the
little property still possessed by the poor Laird of Glenlyon.
The Laird was completely off his guard ; relying on Can-
nan’s protection, the raid of Keppoch was the very last thing
he feared. No opposition was offered to the marauders.
The women and cattle were just home from the sheilings,
and the men were peaceably engaged in getting in the last
of the harvest. No sign preceded the storm. The rapacity
of the M‘Donalds was unexampled. In one of the huts
they found an infant in a basket cradle, wrapt in a
blanket. The child was turned out naked on the clay floor,
and the blanket taken away. One of the Glenlyon men at
the massacre of Glencoe—perhaps, except the Laird, the
only man of them there—as he was slaughtering one of the
M‘Ians with the sword, used, it is said, at each successive
thrust, the expressions of savage revenge—* There for
Catherine’s blanket!” “There for Colin’s cows!” Colin
was the brother of the Laird. Cambuslay, one of the Brae
farms, was the portion allotted him by his father, and, as
it lay conveniently in the way of the M‘Donalds, they swept
it clean. This was not the first time that Colin’s cows were
“lifted ” by the M‘Donalds of Glencoe and Lochaber.
Robert of Glenlyon and his brother Colin were minors in
1644-45, when Montrose ravaged and burned Breadalbane
and all the other lands of their maternal grandfather, Sir
Robert Campbell of Glenorchy. The uncle of the boys,
John Tutor of Glenlyon, who afterwards bought the estate
of Duneaves, and founded a family there, was their legal
guardian ; but they lived mostly with their mother and her
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second husband, Patrick Roy M‘Gregor, the landless chief
of his clan, at Meggernie Castle, during their minority.
Now Patrick Roy, with a thousand of his clan, joined Mon-
trose ; and so Montrose spared Glenlyon when he despoiled
and burned Breadalbane. But the confederate robbers of
Glencoe and Keppoch—or a small band of them at least—
violated the orders of Montrose, and swept away the cows
of young Colin, and some also belonging to John the Tutor,
which were grazing on Colin’s lands. The “ banarach
bheag,” or little dairy-maid, Nic Cree, or M‘Cree, who had
charge of the calves, hid them in the rath of Cambuslay,
and secretly followed the robbers to Glenmeuran with the
double intention of recovering the cows and calling out the
country. The poor girl was discovered and killed by the
robbers. They had got hold of the chief dairy-maid, or
“banarach mhor ” at first, and taken her captive with them
along with the cows. In her captivity this famed but
nameless poetess composed the beautiful song, or lullaby,
of Crodk Chailein, or “ Colin’s Cows,” which has ever since
been used as a charm to make fractious cows give their
milk, and soothe crying babes to sleep. The little dairy-
maid must have succeeded before being killed in sending
back information about the robbers and their trail, for it
seems they were pursued, and most, if not all, of the cattle
recovered before they could be got into the Glencoe
“Thieves’ Corrie,” Very probably, the clan M‘Gregor who
owed much to the family of Glenlyon, and whose chief was,
at this time, restored to position and fair affluence by his
marriage with the well-dowered widow of Archibald Camp-
bell, younger of Glenlyon, helped to hunt down the thieves
and to recover Colin’s cattle. But the raid, although unsuc-
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cessful, was a breach of faith under trust, and it swelled the
already long list of grievous injuries suffered by Glenlyon
at the hands of the M‘Donalds of Glencoe and their kins-
men of Lochaber. Whenever Glenlyon cattle were “ lifted ”
they were first, unless re-captured on the way, driven to
Glencoe, where they were kept until they could be safely
distributed among the confederates. There was, therefore,
a feud of centuries between the two glens. The modern
historians of the massacre of Glencoe aggravate Robert of
Glenlyon’s guilt by laying stress on the fact that Alexander,
the son of M‘Ian, was married to his niece. The blackest
part of the whole business was the treachery planned by
the Government, of which Glenlyon had no notice until the
last moment. But as to the matrimonial relationship, it
was thus the matter stood : Jean Campbell, daughter of
Sir Robert Campbell of Glenorchy, married when very
young, Archibald, the heir of Glenlyon, and was left a
widow with two sons, Robert and Colin, when about twenty-
five years old. Shortly afterwards, she married Patrick
Roy M‘Gregor, to whom she bore two sons and two
daughters.  After Patrick’s death, she married Stewart of
Appin, and by him had children also. It was to the Appin
family of Glenlyon’s mother that Alexander’s wife belonged.
Themuch married ladylived long, and the heavy settlements
made upon her by her first husband and his father, along
with the spend-thrift habits of her son Robert, ruined sadly
the, till then, fairly flourishing Campbells of Glenlyon.

The “creach” of 1689 was not recovered like that of 1645.
The cattle and the spoils were safely got to Glencoe, and
there divided. The following is the list of goods and gear
of which Glenlyon and his tenants were robbed on this occa-
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sion. Itis interesting on many accounts, and of especial
importance to the historian of the Glencoe massacre :—

Ane List of the hail Goods and Gear taken away from the Laird off
Glenlyon, and the Tenants underwritten, out of Chesthill and
Balentyre, and Carnbane Little and Meikle, about the latter end
of October, 1689, by Coill M‘Donald of Keppoch and his
Associates :—

Chesthill. Lib. Sol. D.

Impr. spulzied and taken out of Chesthill, belonging to
the Laird of Glenlyon, sex great English Meares,

Estimatt to Twelve punds sterling each, and in Scots

money Thirfore, 84 o o
Item, ane Brown Staig of three yelrs old, the sd. Brute

estimatt to ... 200 0 ©
Item, ane young Meare, and the prvse of same Brute,

inde . 106 13 4
Item, three pleuch horses, worth fourty punds the plece,

inde . % 120 0 ©

Item, taken away of great Cowes, Three -scoir twelve,

and fyftein three-yeir-old Cowes, and seventein two-

yeir-olds, the Three-scior and twelve great Cowes

and the fyftein three-yeir-old estimatt to twentie

merks the piece, and the seventein two-yeir-old

estimatt to . . the piece, inde S I 1608 OO
Item taken away the sd. time, Eight-scoir and nyn

sheep, estimatt to Two punds 6 sh. 8d. the piece, all

great . . . . .o 394
Item, Ten goats @ Twa punds the plece mde BN 20
Item, Taken away out of the kitchen, several household

plenishing, such as rack speitts, pleats, trenchers,

and candlesticks, and uydr things, estimattto ... 40 o o

o O
o ©

2,005 0 o
Crofts of Chesthill.
Item, taken away from John Macindui, yr. nyn great
- Cowes, ffyve two-yeir-olds, and Two stirks— the nyn
Cowes, ffyve two-yeir-olds, and Two stirks, to these
their worth twentie merks the piece, inde SNZ66 FA A
Item, Threescoir and three head of great sheep and
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Lib. Sol. D
eighteen hogs, the great sheep at 40 sh. the head,
and the hogs at 20 sh. the head, inde ... R e A t.0" 40
Item, twenty-seven old goatts and 29 yeir-old goatts
estimatt over head to three merks the piece,inde ... 82 o o
Item, ffour peir horses and mears, with their followers,
estimatt to ffourty merks the peir 106 13 9
Item, Two ffilies, two-yeir-old, the peire estimatt to

twentie pund the piece esindeito o
Item, household plenishing, worth ffyftie merks T SR R

672 13 9

Item taken from Duncan Cleroch, cotter their, nyn
cowes, great and small, estimatt over head twenty

merks the piece, inde ... 146 13 9
Item, fiyftie head of sheep estimatt to 40 sh the pxece 100 0 ©
Item, nyntein goatts, worth three merks the piece ... 38 o o
Item, ane horse, worth ... RS sr2itiott'o

296 13 9
Item, ffrom John Macilandrust, cotter in Chesthill,

Threttein sheep @ three merks the piece,... s HE26 o) o
Threttein goats at lyke pryce, A3 15 26 MoTEe
Item, ane horse and ane mear, their worth . 262135

78 13 4
Item, ffrom John Macindui, croftsman, Chesthill, Two

pleuch horses, worth 20 pund Scots the piece, svitqolitoto
Item, ffrom him Twa Cowes, worth 25 merks the

piece, 33 6 8
Item, nyntein head off sheep ffrom hlS sone, and ffaurty

from himself, @ 40 sh. the piece, inde ... ® s iforlo)
Item, spulzied plenishing, worth ... U R GT A

204 13 4

Item, firom John Macalyster, in Chesthill, ffourty-two
head off sheep and goats, @ 40 sh. the piece, inde 8 o o
And from Margaret Macanrue, now his spouse, three
heads of cowes, at 25 merks . , . . thepryce, 50 0 ©
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Lib. Sol. D.
And Threttie-seven head of sheep @ forsd. pryce, ... 74 o o
Item, Ten punds worth of plenishing, 18 TR0 0L 1O
218 o o

Balentyre. S

Item, taken from Donald M‘Gore, ffour Cowes esti-

matt @ Twentie merks the head, ... 53 6 8
Item, ffourty-three sheep, at 4o sh. the piece, s IAGON, GO
Item, off spulzied plenishing, worth s 02 OMON O
1539 6 §

Item, ffrom John M‘Laren, then in Balentyre, now in
Chesthill, threttie-seven head of sheep at the above

pryce, o * e (740 0/i8 O]
Item, seventein goatts, at Twa merks and ane half the
piece, ¥ SN 2SI 6110:8
Item, ane mear, estlmatt to 9 6 8
Item, of spulzied plenishing, worth 613 o
118 6 8§
Item, from Margaret Nicdermid, ffyve cowes, great and
small, worth 20 merks the piece, inde ... SRR IG6] 13459
Item, Twa- yeir horse and ane mear, worth twentie
punds the piece, i st 4ol il o
Item, Three-scoir head and three of sheep, @ 40 sh.
the piece, .. 126 0 o
Item, of spulzied plemshmg, worth e 8 ol eNo)
242 13 9
Carnbane More. —————
Item, from Patrick Macarthur, then in Carnbane, now
in Chesthill, sex cowes and ane Bull, at fforsd.
pryce, I +1031 11678
Item, Twentie- ﬁ’our head off greatt sheep, at three
merks and ane half the piece, ... o R e s,
Item, Eightein goatts at the lyke pryce, ... BT 308 OO
Item, ane horse, worth ... L iNort ol i)
209 6 8
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Lib. Sol. D.
Item, ffrom John Ogilvie, then in Carnbane, now in
Chesthill, ffour Cowes, worth twentie merks the piece. 53 6 8

Item, ffourty head of great sheep, ... ¥, IR0 020
Item, ane sword worth ten merks, and a plald worth
ten merks, RGN0 X8
IEARirg ity
Cambuslay. ————

Item, spulzied and away taken about the fforsd, tyme
ffrom Coline Campbell, broyr to the Laird off Glen-
lyon, Be Ronnald M‘Donald, broyr to Keppoch, and
Keppoch his kindred :

Impr. Three pleuch horses, qrof two off them at 33 Lib.

6s. 8d. the piece, and the oyr at 20 Lib. inde e i 180 A
Item, three meares, with their followers, worth iy 100 10O
Item, sex Cows worth 25 merks the piece ... e (0o (o))

Item, ffrom the sd. Coline his subtennents, ffourscoxr
Cowes, great and small, at Twentie merks over head 1,160 0 o

Item, ffrom the sd. tennents 335 sheep, ... S ENI6708 1O, 3O
Item, from the sd. tennents, of armour, worth 66 Lib.
13s. 4d. and of spulzied plenishing 100 Lib. inde ... 166 13 4
Sume of Lose, 22836 NEE
Galline. Sal ot deauall

Item, spulzied and away taken from the 4 tennents ot
Galline, ffytie head of Cowes, worth twentie merks
the piece, inde B 1888 106,198

_833 (T

Gallin for whatever reason it is entered in this list, did
not at this time belong to Campbell, but was part of the
property sold to Lord Murray. I do notsee how Gallin was
spulzied and the rest of Lord Murray’s lands spared, as itis
known was the case. I believe, therefore, the last item
refers to some other foray, which took place before the
estate was sold, and that it was entered at the foot of the
more recent claim, as the only desperate chance of obtain-
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ing satisfaction. In 1695 an action at civil law was com-
menced against Coll of Keppoch by the Lady Glenlyon in
the absence of her husband, but I believe a long bill of
costs against her was the only result ; for, though a verdict
was easily obtained, “ Coll of the Cows,” was not the man
to obey implicitly the decree of a judge. = Excluding
Gallin from the list, the other farms were held by Campbell
in right of his wife, whose jointure they were, and they
formed the whole of his possessions in Glenlyon. The
foray left the laird and his tenants on the brink of starva-
tion. And that would have been undoubtedly their fate
next year, as, for want of horses, most of the land lay un-
tilled, had not the laird’s son-in-law, Alexander Campbell
of Ardeonaig, stretched his credit with the Laird of Ochter-
tyre, from whom he procured meal and grain for Campbell
and his dependents. Any one, by running his eye over the
foregoing list, will understand at once the thorough way in
which the Highland robbers swept a glen. Here, at one fell
swoop, a poor landlord and his few dependents lose their
whole stock—all they had in the world-—36 horses, 240 cows,
093 sheep, 133 goats, and whatever was portable of their little
household furniture. The money value was estimated at
£7,540 17s. 11d. Scots money, which was a large sum
indeed in those days. Campbell, driven in his old age—
he bordered on 60—to earn his daily bread, resumed his
sword and became a soldier of the Revolution. Early in the
year 1690, he obtained a company in the Earl of Argyle’s
Regiment of Foot.
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(s I ‘HE first glance we have of Robert Campbell, as the
soldier of King William, is obtained from the
following letter, addressed “ ffor the Laird of Glenlyon, one
of the Captains of the Earle of Argyle’s Regiment, present
Commandant at Drunnolich, for their Maties. Servce.”
Loving Coussine.—I receaved yours, and as to what my unkle says
anent his Boats, you may wreitt too him and tell him, that I would
follow his Inclinations in it ; but I have a certain use for the Boats
before wee open the campaigne, which I shall satisfie him of at
metting. I shall need no Boats, but such as can goe the length of Inder-
lochie. Heknows I am lazie to wreitt, so will excuse my not wreitting
too him. I desyre to have my battalion your lenth on Tuesday; you
would contryve how my Regiment may be Quartered as near Drun-
nolich as possible, in Barns or otherwyse.—I am, you Loving
Coussine,

* * ¥ ¥ CAMPBELL.
Inverary, September 28th, 16g0.
The name is unfortunately effaced, and I have no means
of ascertaining who was the writer. Campbell spent the
next two years with his regiment in Argyleshire, without
being engaged in any particular service. His wife and
family at home were struggling against the severest
poverty. After their lands had been harried by the
M‘Donalds, it was impossible for them, for want of means,
to re-stock them immediately. The meal obtained from
Sir Patrick Murray to keep the wolf—hunger—from the
door, when the term came, could not be paid. Letters of
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outlawry were issued against Campbell ; but what could
be done? “It was ill to tak his breeks off a Hielandman.”
Robert could not pay, and there should be an end of it;
but necessity has no laws; another supply of meal must
be procured or the family must starve. Lord Breadalbane
owed Robert money, but at this, his hardest pinch, did not
or could not pay him. I suspect the latter; for now that
the family were too reduced to be feared, and their
lands had passed into other hands, he favoured and sup-
ported them as a matter of policy. Robert’s son-in-law,
Alexander Campbell of Ardeonaig, paid Sir Patrick, and
the necessary supply was obtained. To Ardeonaig was
assigned the bond on Lord Breadalbane, the only realisable
source of means in poor Glenlyon’s possession. After care-
fully investigating the accumulating miseries entailed upon
his family by the raids of the M‘Donalds—the proofs of
which I hold in my hands—I can almost understand the stern
joy with which Glenlyon carried out the outrageous behests
of his Sovereign, and slaughtered, without remorse, men
who had treacherously violated the protection of their
commander-in-chief, to plunder the lands of an in-
offensive man.

The M‘Ians, as hardened and habitual robbers, according
to the criminal code of that age, probably deserved, every
one of them that was above twelve years of age, the punish-
ment of the gallows. But at the Revolution, the executive
was not strong enough to vindicate and protect the life
and property of the subject, except through voluntary
obedience, beyond the Highland barrier. The Campbells
were the first to graft ideas of law and order upon the
uncongenial stock of clanship. By consummate tact the
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celebrated Marquis of Argyle had, through the influence
of religion, gradually habituated his followers to the new
order of things. The Clan Campbell, retaining all their
hereditary affection for their chief, and consolidating, by their
implicit obedience, his immense power in the council of the
State and even over the fate of Scotland, were the first to
take upon them the feudal yoke, and from being companions
and equals to sink into the vassals of M‘Cailein More.
In the strict administration of justice between man and man,
in the absolute security of life and property, and in the vigor-
ous and impartial rule of the Marquis, they reaped the full
reward of what the other Highlanders called their mean-
spiritedness. The change in Argyle was rather in the
morals of the people than in their civil condition. The
Marquis was a paragon of a landlord, and his immediate
successors never extended their feudal rights to the matter of
rent and cain, which were allowed to remain on the old clan
footing. Nevertheless, the Marquis, by fostering the
change in the morals and habits of thinking prevalent
among the clans, did #pso facto, become the Corypheus of
obedience to the law in the Highlands, and concomitantly
also of the race of absolute landlords, who, through the
agency of a single factor, could sweep a glen in one
day of 100 stalwart warriors. In introducing changes we
are generally alive only to the immediate benefits which
they promise, and leave time to discover their shortcomings
and positive evils. Thecountry of the Campbells,through the
changes brought about by the Marquis, exhibited a picture
of peacefulness and civilisation, which formed a strong con-
trast to the rest of the Highlands. The strange appearance of
the strongest of the clans settling disputes according to law,
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and yielding due obedience to the king’s writ,arrested the at-
tention of statesmen,and stimulated them to strong efforts to
extend, through the same means, over the whole Highlands,
the power of the executive. As the Campbells were at the
head of the new party of progress, the M‘Donalds stood
forward pre-eminently as the champions of clanship. At
the era of the Revolution, Coll of Keppoch and M‘Ian of
Glencoe vindicated the right of waging private war, and of
living by the systematic plunder of the sword as freely as
any of their ancestors of the Isles had done hundreds of
years before.  The neighbouring clans had to keep watch
and ward against the marauders, and the exercisc of arms
necessarily kept alive the spirit of warfare, and retarded
the progress of civilisation among the Campbells them-
selves ; for a government too weak to protect from violence,
and allowing men to shift for themselves, necessarily breeds
contempt amongst the best disposed ; and, when its orders
run counter to their wills, rouse them to opposition and
rebellion. The King’s garrison of Inverlochie bridled the
more open country of Keppoch, but M‘Ian carried on, with
as much impunity and openness as ever, the trade of cattle-
lifting. Once in Glencoe it was impossible to recover the
prey. Let any number of men be sent against them, his
gillies guarded the narrow passes; at the preconcerted
signal the cattle and people removed to the rocky fastnesses
which a few men could hold against an army. The foe
had nothing to wreak his vengeance upon but a few turf-
built huts, as easily rebuilt as they were cast down.
William and Dalrmyple set their seals to the doom of
Glencoe, but not because MIan had failed in obtempering
the letter of the law regarding the oath of allegiance—not
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because the M‘Ians were rebels—but because they were the
last to adhere to the unmodified principles of clanship, to
the idea of kingdoms within a- kingdom, of the right of a
private man, or a section of private men, to exercise hatred,
rapine, and war, uncontrolled by the central government ;—
because, though a puny tribe as to numbers, the physical
character of their country made them able to keep thirty
thousand men, from the dread of their excursions, with
arms perpetually in their hands; because this thwarted
the plans of progress represented by the Campbells, and
cherished by theking,and subjected the revolutionary govern-
ment to the laughter of scorn amidst a warlike and dis-
affected race, by showing its threatenings could be braved
with impunity, and that it was not able to afford the safety
to property and life, the promise of which formed the
charter of its existence. If the odium caused by the
treacherous slaughter of beguiled men was so great as
for a time to endanger the safety of the throne, still it was
the means of making the Highlanders perceive the necessity
of yielding obedience to the law, and it put an effectual
stop to cattle-lifting on a grand scale. M‘Ian of Glencoe
was the last Katheran chief. The terrors of the law pre-
vailed over the love of plunder, and shortly the thing,
formerly considered a mark of bravery, sank into the cata-
logue of mean and disreputable sins. The talents of Rob
Roy, the last Katheran, failed to make the profession what
it was in the days of Keppoch; and when Rob died there
was no one to take up his mantle, for cattle-lifting had
degenerated into common thieving. It cannot be said,
therefore, the massacre of Glencoe failed in the results
expected by Government. Dalrymple might plausibly
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enough justify to himself the horrible cruelty of the means,
by the importance of the results to the well-being of society,
ten times better after the massacre than before its commis-
sion. But there was one man engaged in the affair—who,
though concealed, was chief actor—that had every reason
to be displeased with the result, and that was Breadalbane.
He had made himself extremely active on the side of
William at the conclusion of the war in 1691. The King
placed £15,000 at his disposal to bring the Jacobite chiefs
to reason. He held a meeting of them at Achalader, in the
Braes of Glenorchy, on the 3oth June, 1691. MTan at-
tended this meeting, and quarrelled with the Earl about
the reparation which the latter demanded from him, for
having plundered his lands. M‘Ian denounced the treach-
erous character of the Earl to the other chiefs, and was
the principal cause of making the negotiations come to
nothing. Further, he threatened to expose his conduct to
Government, and show, that, though he was Willie’s man
in Edinburgh, he was Jamie’s in the Highlands. The
charge was well founded enough, as subsequent events
show, though Breadalbane sheltered himself for the time
under the permission of the King authorising him to act
this double part. In addition to the new insult, the more
intolerable to the Earl because he felt it was merited,
the M‘Tans had been, with the other M‘Donald’s, harrying
Breadalbane when the battle of Stronclachan was fought,
in which the Earl lost eighteen of his nearest kinsmen.
Besides, the position of Glencoe rendered the M‘lans a
perpetual thorn in his side. If he hoped for success in
the complicated intrigues in which he was about to engage,
for bringing about another revolution, and making him-
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self what he always aspired to be, the head of the Campbells
and the chief man in the North, he saw it more necessary
than ever to get rid of the M‘Tans. The “ mauling scheme”
of the Earl, to which Dalrymple alludes, without describing
it, must have been the one at last substantially adopted.
The time, the manner, and the agents could have been
chosen only by a man intimately acquainted with Glencoe,
and the nature and habits of its people, and also aware of
the mortal hatred existing between the M‘Ians and Camp-
bell of Glenlyon—a man determined, moreover, that the
“old fox, nor any of his cubs, should not escape "—and
such a man in every particular was Breadalbane. Instead
of 200, the whole male population of the Glen, but between
30 and 40 were killed. The old intriguer foresaw the
storm which would arise, and dreaded it, if many of the
witnesses lived. A few days after the massacre, a person
waited upon Glencoe’s sons, and stated, he had been sent
by Campbell of Barracalden, the Earl’s Chamberlain, and
that he was authorised to say, that, if they would declare,
under their hands, that Breadalbane had no concern in the
slaughter, he would procure their remission and restitution.
He escaped adroitly enough through the after proceedings,
as he managed thatCampbellof Glenlyon should never stand
his trial. But under what mortal fear must he have made
the promise of “ remission and restitution” with his revenge
but half-gratified, and the possession of Glencoe, which he
longed to acquire, slipping for ever from his grasp? As
to Glenlyon, his own contemporaries accused him not of
his cruelty in the execution of inhuman orders, but of the
few hours of treachery which preceded the massacre—

‘“ For he smiled as a friend, while he planned as a foe
To redden each hearthstone in misty Glencoe.”
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The Glencoe bard himself does not go farther, as if con-
scious that had he not violated his plighted word, and
murdered men under trust, Campbell bad received such pro
vocation from the M‘Donalds as Justlﬁed the most unlimited
revenge on his part.

The Scottish Parliament met in 1695, when King
William found it expedient to yield to public indignation,
and a commission to examine into the affair was granted
upon the 2gth of April. A few days after, Captain Campbell
received orders to join his regiment in Flanders. Bread-
albane obtained the necessary funds—400 merks—for his
outfit, from Mr. Alexander Comrie, minister of Inchadin.
The other officers engaged in the massacre were already in
Flanders. Campbell’s evidence appears to have been
peculiarly dreaded by the Earl, and had he been examined
perhaps history would not be now so hard on the character
of Dalrymple, and at any rate the intrigues of Breadalbane,
if revealed, would have astonished William himself, and
shown him that even he could be outwitted. From the
anxiety of the Commissioners to screen William, their
labours ended in smoke, and the M‘Donalds and the country
had not the revenge they wanted. The recommendation of
the Parliament to order home Campbell of Glenlyon, Cap-
tain Drummond, Lieutenant Lindsay(a relationof Glenlyon’s
wife), Ensign Lundy, and Sergeant Barber, the chief actors,
in order to their being prosecuted according to law, was
never carried into effect. Campbell probably was never
made aware of the result of the Commission. He died at
Bruges in West Flanders, on the 2nd day of August, 1696. I
subjoin an extract from the paymaster’s accounts in which

his funeral expenses are given.
E
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To the Lt & Ensign’s pay from 17 June to 11 Aug. 1696,

being two months, at 93. 16 p. mo. ... o .. 4187 12 ©
To 400 boats from the 14 July to 11 Aug. ERENIZEg. O
To the Judge Advocate for two months 2 4 o
To the Doctor and paymr ... SEA2I30 o
To the hoboyes ... | 11207 VI o]
To on man to the Coll. e e Ve e
To Gent Hospital to 11 Aug. s AA25LH 5L O
To Brudges Hospital 212 o
To the Capts. Clothes in full ... AT A o)

To laid out on the Capts: funeral expense

for linining and several oyr necessaryes

taken by the Major's Lady ... ...£131 18 o
To laid out in the house where he dyed, &

paid before Captain Fonab ... .. 127 10 ©
To laid out at Brudges, where he was

buried, as per particular acct. ... .. 14216 o

4402 14 0 f40214 ©

Campbell of Glenlyon was, at his death, in the sixty-fifth
year of his age. His early education had been good. He
was a man of polished and plausible manners, and had
mixed in early life in the best society. Like other men
who have left a name joined to cruel deeds, his personal
appearance was extremely prepossessing. Tall, well-built,
with a profusion of curling fair hair, and a face of almost
feminine delicacy, he was in youth a very Adonis. Lefta
minor with a large but burdened property, and shut out from
active pursuits by the stern rule of Cromwell, he early gave
the rein to selfish pleasures, a course in which he was
confirmed by the gaieties which followed the Restoration.
His greatest vices were gambling and the love of
display, to which in later days he added an excessive
love of wine. In another age he might have been a
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OBERT had disposed of the extensive feus he held
in Lorn to the Earl of Breadalbane about 1663.
The noble property of Glenlyon fell into the hands of
Lord Murray in 1684. The only part of the once large
estate remaining in possession of the family at his death
were the jointure lands of his wife, and the small property
of Kilmorich, which had been so settled that he could
not touch it. His extravagance had created many debts,
which were pressing with severity upon his family. But
notwithstanding the hopelessness of the attempt, the first
thought of his son was, how he could recover his father’s
inheritance. Zain Buidhe (yellow-haired John) was twenty
years of age when his father died in Flanders. The follow-
ing letter, written immediately on receipt of the news of
his father’s death, explains his position and views :—

29th October, 1696.

May it please your Lordship—Being in Caithness when I heard of
my father Glenlyon’s death, I made all the heast I could to returne
to wait upon your Lordship, to represent the case of the Earle of
Tullibardine’s claim upon my father’s Estate. But comeing home, I
understood that your Lordship was gone to London, gich oblidges me
to give you this trouble, humblie begging your Lordship’s protectione
in that matter, to prevent the ruine of my father’s familie, which the
best Lawiers in the Kingdome, and particularlie my Lord Advocate,
are of opinione may be yet done, if my friends owne me. In regarde
that any right of the Earle of Tulliebardine has is but of the nature of
a wadsett, redeimable on payment of the soume therein contained,
which is farr within the treu value of the Estate. And seeing my
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own uncles and cusin-germans are able and willing instantly to ad-
vance all the money that the Earle of Tullibardine pretends to, for
relieving the Estate to my behoof, I humblie entreat your Lordship
(seeing you are now on the place) to speak to my Lord Tullibardine
in my behalf, to sie if he will accept of his money in a friendly manner
without putting me and my relations to any further expenses. Which
is well known we are not able to undergoe, being reduced to grate
extremities by the wayes and methodes which were takine to turne us
out of all we had. Qranent I earnestlie entreat your Lordship may be
pleased to gett the Earle of Tullibardine’s positive answer imediately.
Because the present circumstances of the affaire will not admitt of
any delay. In regaird if he refuse, I most prosequtt the legall part
before my minority expyre, which is now neir elapst. And besyds I
may come to lose the present opportunity that offers, by my uncles and
cusin-germans being willing to advance the money, whereby my
father’s familie may yett be preserved in the name. For they will
accept of repayment from me of the prin!l. soume in such moyties as I
please, and give me a perpetual reversion and present possessione of
the superplus more than satisffies their current annualrents. I
humbly beg your Lordship’s answer, that I may be determined in
time how to proceed. The beginning of the winter sessione being
that there are processes then, Zinc inde, depending. And as your
Lordship’s appeiring for me will doe me a grate deall of honour, so it
will certainly preserve a familie who have been upon all occations
servisable to your Lordship’s most noble predecessors, whose futt-
stapes therein I resolve to follow, and ever to conteinow.—May it
please your Lordship, your-Lordship’s most obedient and most humible
servant. JouN CAMPBELL.
For the Earle of Breadalbane.

The answer to the foregoing earnest and humble appeal

came not from the Earl but from his lawyer, Colin Campbell.
Edint 2. Feb. 1697.

Sir—You will see by the enclosed what returne the Earl of Tulli-
bardine hath given to your Letter, and of David Campbell, Advocate,
yranent who is very friendly. Yr. friends yen cane expect nothing
but the rigour of the Law that way, ffor the Earl’s Advocates are in-
sisting in ther old process, to have the restitutione made voyd. ButI
judge their will nott be muche done this sessione. Iff your comeing over
be necessary (which I think it will nott this Sessione) I sall accquaint
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you in dew tyme. My Lord Marquess Advocats are postponeing
your Mother’s business, with delays as much as they cane. And
would faine restrict her joyntur if they cane. They have som pappers,
they say, to produce, under her own hand, that will restrict her right
upon Killmorich. We cane make nothing till we see you. They are
to be produced to-morrow. Ther sall be noe indeavors wanting to
bring it to a Decreit this Sessione.—I am, Sir. your Coussen to serve
you, €t (o8
ffor the Laird of Glenlyon.

The next is from the Earl. It is quite characteristic of
the man. The issue, and the person into whose possession
these lands ultimately came, throw a doubt upon his pro-
fessions of friendship, and make it probable that in this, as
in every other act of his life, he used double-dealing. We
shall hear more about the matter in another paper :—

ffinlarig, 12 Jully. 1697.

CossEN~—I have just now red yours of the tenth. I know not how
it came to be soe long on the way. Coline Ramsay did last week
informe at Edinr that you were ther, and that all your desyre of
recovering your esteat wood doe. I know not who made him soe wise
but it oblidged me to send yesterday an expresse to Edin™ to assure
them of the contrarie. The same endeavours are used wt. you to
persuade you of my remisnes, but I'll put the contrary under my hand.
My sone Glenurchay is just now come here, and hes spoake to the
E. of T. thoroughly of your affaire, as alsoe wt the E. of A. & my
L. A. C.; and gt hes past betwixt them oblidges me to call you &
yr. friends here to-morrow morning ; In order to put an end to all thats
to be done in your affaire at this time. And that from this ye may goe
to Edinr.. Two that effect I have written to Duneaves to advance
you money, and I shall reimbruse him, and alsoe to come here wt- you.
My sone tells me, that my Lord Tulliebardine says ye agreed wt. him
at Hungtingtower, that Duneaves & the rest of the undertakers were
to goe wt- you to Edinr to him, qch I understood not to be soe.
However, I shall write for the rest to meet you here to-morrow. I
wish ye wold persuade yr cossen to come provided to goe alongst
wt: you if found needfull gn we meet. In caise it be not, I shall be
als unwilling that any person should goe, as they can be themselves,
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if it can be done wtout them. Soe expecting you soe early as may be,
for I had stopt my jurney for yr coming, I remain, yr affectionate
Cossen to serve you, BREADALBANE.

ffor the Laird of Glenlyon.

The bearing of the whole question, as well as the upshot,
are best learned from a lawyer’s opinion obtained by Glen-
lyon a few years afterwards in reference to the claims of
his father’s creditors :—* The deceast Marquess of Athole
haveing unquestionable rights to the estate of Glenlyon by
expyred compreisings in his person: He enters in contract
wt the deceast Robert Campbell of Glenlyon in the year
1684, whereby out of love and favour to the present
Glenlyon his sone, he restricts the great sums due to
his Lops. to the sum of 39,000 lib, and grants the said
John Campbell of Glenlyon a Reversion for redeeming the
said lands wtin the space of six years thereafter. But on
this express condition, that in case the said lands were not
redeemed wtin said time, then and in that case the rever-
sion should #pso facto expyre and become extinct, as if the
same had never been made nor granted. The Marquess
paying to this Glenlyon, in the event of not redemption,
ane certain sum.” . . . . “Glenlyon haveing failed in
useing the ordor of Redemptione wtin the limited time, the
Marquess raises a proces of Declarator agt. him, for declare-
ing the reversion granted to him, out of love and favour
only, extinct and voyd; and accordingly the same was
declared, and the present Duke of Athole, as haveing right
from his fayr. to the lands of Glenlyon, did pay to the
present Glenlyon a certain sum of money upon his grant-
ing a Discharge yrof in terms of the forsd reversion.”
The opinion as to Glenlyon’s liability to his father’s credi-
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tors then follows, but is of no consequence, especially as it
was not acted upon.

The next papers contain a list of the most pressing of
Robert Campbell’s debts at the time of his decease. There
were many other and heavy debts due to friends, who
gave the ruined family breathing space to recover them-
selves. These papers afford a good insight into the every-
day life of a laird in the seventeenth century, and are in-
teresting for the statistical clues they offer to any person
delighting in such researches :—

John, Duke of Atholl, &c., sheriff principal of the sheriffdome of
Perth, To mairs, conjunctly & severally, speciallie constitute, Greet-
ing, Forasmuchas It is humbly meaned and shown to us By Master
David Ramsay of Lethendie, executor after mentioned, That where
umple- Robert Campbell of Glenlyon as principal, and John Campbell
younger of Glenorchie as Cautioner, by their hond, subscribed he them
of the date the fyth and seventh dayes of June, 1661 years band and
oblidged them, conjunctly and severallie, their heirs &c, to have con- °
tented and paid to John Ewing, merchant in London,the sum of fourteen
pound thertteen shillings three pennies sterling money principal, and at
and again the first day of Jully then next, with twentie shillings money
foresaid of liquidate expences, in caice of failzie ; and annualrents after
the 'said dyet of payment dureing the not payment thereof as the said
bond in itself more fullie bears. In and To the which bond, sums of
money, principal annualrents, and expences adwriten, the said John
Ewing, by his assignation, dated the 11th of October, anno foresaid,
made & constitute James Nickoll, writer in Edinburgh, his cossioner
& assigney ! Likeas, the said James Nickoll, by his translation,
subg be him of the date the twelveth day of March, 1685, Transferred
and disponed his haill right yrof In favour of John Melvill, younger,
merchant in Edinburgh : And Sicklike, he by his Disposition, dated
the 24th March, 1688 years, conveyed his haill right to the premises
in favours of the said Mr. David Ramsay, complainer. As Also, the
said umgq! Robert Campbell, by his other bond, subscribed by him of
the date the fyfth day of March, 1669 years, band and oblidged him,
his heirs, &c. to have contented & payed to Mr. Archibald Campbell,
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writer at Edinburgh, the sum of fourscore pounds Scots money prin-
cipal, at and again Lambas then next, with sixteen pounds of liquidat
expences in caice of failzie, and adrent after the date of the said
bond, during the not payt as the sq bond in itself proposes: In and
To the which bond, and sums yrin contained, the said Mr. Archibald
Campbell, by his letters of assignation, of the date the tenth of
September, 1679, made and constitute John Campbell, writter to the
Signet, his cossioner & assigney : Likeas, the said John Campbell, by
his translation, subscribed by him of the date the fyitf of June, 1682
years, transferred and disponed his haill right qrof in favours of James
Nickoll, merchant in Edinr. together with all letters and diligence,
raised by him yrupon : And Likeways, the said James Nickoll, by his
right and disposition, subed be him of the date the twelveth of March
16835, sold, assigned and disposed the foresd bond last narrated, and
haill conveyances thereof, in favours of the said John Melvil,
yor merchant in Edinburgh: And Sicklike, the said John Melvill by
his right & disposition, subscribed be him of the date the twenty-fourt
of December, 1688, assigned and disponed in favours of the sd Mr.
David Ramsay, complainer, the foresd last narrated bond assignation.
Translation and Disposition, with all that had or might follow yrupon,
.as the saids haill writts of the respective dates abovewritten, herewith
produced, in ymselves at more length is contained : ffor payment and
satisfaction of the which sums of money, prinl, adrents, and expences
adwritten, contained in the foresds bonds, the said Mr. David
Ramsay, as haveing right in manner adwritten, Did, upon the twenty-
two day of December, 1696 years, confirm himself executor-dative
gua creditor to the said umg!e Robert Campbell of Glenlyon, before the
Commissar of Dunkeld, and particularly to the moveable goods & gear
of the sd defunct contained in the Confirmed Testament, and particu-
larly aftermend :(—Towitt, five old plugh horses, all estmat over head
to fiftie pound ; Item, eleven great cows with their calves, estimat to
twelve pound per piece—Inde, ane hundred and thretty two pound ;
Item, five three-year-old cows at eight pound the piece—Inde, fourty
pound ; Item, three two-year-old cows at five pound the piece—Inde-
fifteen pound ; Item, three ane-year-old stirks at four pound the piece
—Inde, twelve pound ; Item thretty-six head of sheep at two marks
and ane half the piece—Inde, fiftie pound; Item, nine ane-year
old hogs at twenty shillings the piece—Inde, nine pound; Item,
twentie-eight lambs at ten shillings the piece—Inde, fourteen pound ;
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Item, eight bolls of white oats, sown crop 1696 years, estimat to the
third corn—Inde, twentie-four bolls at four pound the boll—Inde,
ninetie six pound ; Item, twelve bolls of gray oats, sown crop foresaid,
estimat to the third corn—Inde, thretty-six bolls at two pound the
boll—Inde, seventie-two pound ; Item, of Rye five bolls, sown estimat
to the third corn—Inde, fifeteen bolls at five pound the boll—Inde,
sixty-five pound ; Item, three pecks Rye, sown at the third corn, is
nine pecks at half ane mark the peck—Inde, three pound ; Item, ane
duzon of old silver spoons at five pound the piece—Inde, sixty pound ;
Item, ane silver quaich wt two lugs, estimat to three pound; Item,
ane silver cup, wt silver cover, estimat to thretty-six pound ;!Item,
ane little silver dish, estimat to three pound ; Item, three brass candle-
sticks, all estimat to eight pound ; Item, eleven old pewter plaits, qrof
six large one, estimat to thretty-six shillings the piece, & the other five
less ones to twenty shillings the piece—Inde, fifeteen pound sixteen
shillings ; Item, ane duzon of old pewter trenchers, estimat to eight
shillings—Inde, four pound sixteen shillings; Item, ane broken pewter
quart stoup, ane pint stoup, ane chopin & ane muskin stoup, all of
pewter, all estimat to four pound ; Item, two brass pans, ane 48s. and
the other 12s.—Inde, three pound; Item, ane old kettle, cony about
ten gallons, estimat to 24 lib. ; Item, ane mashing vatt, estimat to
four pound ; Item, ane wort stand, worth half ane crown, ane pound
105 ; Item, three iron pots, qrof two containing a gallon the piece &
the other six pints—Inde, five pound ; Item, three barrells, qrof two
of four gallons the piece, & the oyr ane gallon, ane lead gallon, awori
dish and a twe-handed tub, all estimat to three pound ; Item, three
stands, estimat to four pound 10s ; Item, two washing-tubs worth two
pound ; Item, four meathers, three chopin cogs, two timber plaits, a
timber ladle, and cheeser and ane * * dish all estimat to sixteen shil-
lings ; Item, two butter cans, worth §s the piece ; Item, ane speit and
ane pair of raxes, worth six pound ; Item, ane crook, and ane pair of
tongs, and a brander, all estimat to 2 lib. ; Item, ane old girdle,
worth 12s. ; Item, ane meal firlot, ane peck, & ane lippy, all worth
ane pound ; Item, the plough, wt the plough graith and irons yrt
belonging, and horses graith, all worth three pound ; Item, of bed-
steads wtin the house of Chestill, four all furnished wt curtains, feather
beds, & blanquets & sheets, all estimat to ane hundred pound ; Item,
of box beds, three wt. sheets and blanquets, estimat to 20 lib. ; Item,
two stand of hangers, ane grof stript, the oyr plain estimat to 20 libs ;
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Item, ane table in the hall worth * * ¥, a carpet cloath, worth twenty
pound ; Item, ane old skringe, yr worth ane pound 10s.; Item, ane
old pair of virginals, twelve pound; Item, of the tables throw the
house, four worth four pound; Item, ane old knock, worth ten
pound ; Item, ane old meal girnell, estimat to eight pound; Item,
three little chists, worth three pound; Item, ane ambrie, worth 3
lib. ; Item, ten old rustic leather chairs, estimat to 10 lib. ; Item, of
other chairs throw the house, six estimat to seven pound ; Item, three
truncks, three timber chists, and two bigger chists worth 20 lib. ;
Item, ane large looking-glass, estimatt to five pound ; Item,
ane old large Bible, estimat to four pound; Item, three duzon
of dornuck servets, some of ym old, and three table-cloathes and two
hand towels, all estimat to twenty pound; Item, three * * * * of
pewter, worth ane pound 16s.; Item, ane glass case, with eight
glasses, estimat to 5 lib. 6s. 8d.; Item, ane pistoll and ane morter of
copper, worth four pound; Item, ane smoothing iron worth 2o0s.;
As in the said testament at more length is cond : And true it is and of
veritie (that Helen Lindsay) relict spouse to the said deceast Robert
Campbell of Glenlyon, hath intromitted with, used, and disposed upon
the goods, gear, and others particularly abovemend contained in the
sd confirmed Testament,and als that she is * * Intromissatrix yrwith,
and with the other moveable goods and gear that belonged to her sd
umgqle husband or at least doth oyrwise passive represent him, and there-
fore of all law, equitie, and reason, she the sd Helen Lindsay ought &
should be decerned and ordained be decreit of Court, order of law &
justice either to make payt and satisfaction to the said Mr. David
Ramsay, complr, of the sums.of money, princl! adrents, & expences
due to him, for himself, and as assigney foresd, by the sd deceast
Robert Campbell of Glenlyon, conform to the severall bonds admend
or at least to make forthcoming and deliverie to the sd complr the
goods, gear, and oyts particularly abovementioned, which belonged to
the said defunct, and were intromitted wt by her as said is, and qrunto
the said complainer hath right as exer foresd, or else to satisfie and
pay the complainer the avails and prices yrof above sett down—

Yerefore, &c.



IX.

AT Dunkeld, the nynteen day of November Jm VI and nyntie sex

yeirs, In presence of John Stewart of Ladywell, Comrie of Dun-
keld, Sittand in Judgement Anent the lybelled, as howe persued at
the Instance of Helen Lindsay, relict of the deceast Robert Campbell
of Glenlyon, persuer, Summonding, Warning, and Chargeing,
the persuers defenders undermend personallie or at there dwelling
house ; To witt, John Campbell, lawll sone to the defunct Alexander
Campbell of Ardeonack, John Stewart of Cammoch in special ; And
all others having or pretending to have Intrest generallie, at the mercat
cross of Dunkeld, To have compeired before the sd comrie, and named
the day and dait of thir presents, to have heard and gein the debts &
oyrs. underwritn resting be the sd deceast Robert Campbell to the sd
Helen Lindsay, perssuer, for herself and as haveing right in maner
underwritn to be found Justly adebted to her ; and that she ought to
be decerned excrix Creditrix to the goods aftermentiond for payt. of
the samen : They are to say, Mr. William Foord, sometyme school-
master at Chestill (afterwards at Dunkeld), for ane yeir and ane
quarter, the soume ffourscor three punds sex shilling eight pennies :
Item, to Mr. John Andersone, sometyme school master yr. the
soume of ane hundreth punds Scots money ; Item, to Sibella Ayssome,
for sex years and ane halfs for hire, The soume of ane hundred and
seventeen punds, being eighteen punds yearly ; Item, to John McGillio-
christ, hyre man, the soume of twenty nyne punds sex shillings eight
pennies of fie and bounties for two yeirs ; Item, to Patrick Thomsone,
hyre man, twenty merks yearly for two yeirs—Inde, twenty sex punds
threttein shillings four pennies ; Item, to John Mcewin, Clerich, of by
gone fies, The soume of twentie punds ; Item, to Donald Ban
McCallum, also servitor, the soums of threttein punds sex shilling
eight pennies for ane yeir’s fie & bounty ; Item, to Christian M‘Nab,
late servitrix, of fie & bounty fyve merks; Item, to Donald Clerich,
of fie, four punds ; Item, to Donald M°‘Kissick, for ane yeir and ane
hall’s fie, thretty punds ; Item, to Patrick M‘Ewin, of fie, for ane yeir,
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the soume of nyne punds ; Item, to Mr. Neill Stewart, schoolmaster,
att Fortingall, preceiding Mertymes Jm. VI & nyntie sex, twelve
punds ; Item, to John Mcewin, servitor to the Lady Glenlyone, seven
punds sex shillings eight pennies, for ane yeir’s fie ; Item, to John
Mcllline, herd of by gone fies, the soume of twenty two punds threttein
shillings four pennies ; Item, to Robert Mcewin, servitor, the soume
of seven punds sex shillings eight pennies for ane yeir’s fie ; Cathrine
McNaughtone, present servitrix, twenty punds for fie & bounty att
Mertymes ; Item, to Mary Roy, present servitrix, on pund sex shilling
eight pennies ; Item, to Donald Reoch, footman, four punds yearly
fie, fyve yeir’s fie, extending to twentie punds ; Item, the soume of four
hundreth & fyfty punds for mantinance of ye family, from the first of
August, 1696, to Mertymes nyntie sex, extending in the heall to the
sonme of nyne hundreth and forty punds, sa/vo Fusto calculo ; or else
to have compeired and shown ane reasonable cause why the sds
soumes ought not to be found and declaired to be resting to the sd
persuer by the sd defunct, . . . .. &c., &c. Therefore the Judge
decerned, declaired, and cordained, and decerns, declaires, and or-
dains, in maner adwritten; whereupon Patrick Robertson, as proc*™
for and in the name of the sd persuer, asked and took act of court ;
Extractum per me, Jo. MILLER.

Robert Campbell left a family of four daughters and
three sons. The eldest daughter, Elizabeth was married to
Alexander Campbell of Ardeonaig, and had issue. The
second, Janet, was first married to Robert Campbell of
Boreland ; and their great-grandson, afterwards first Mar-
quess, succeeded in 1782 to the Earldom of Breadalbane
on the failure of “ Pale John’s” issue in the third genera-
tion ; she was married, secondly, to Ewen Cameron, Bore-
land. The other two died unmarried. Of the sons, John
succeeded to the empty title of Laird of Glenlyon ; Robert
was a lieutenant in Lord Carmichael’s regiment of dra-
goons ; and Alexander died early. Elizabeth and Janet
received 2000 merks of tocher, a portion of 1200 merks the
piece was given several years after their father’s decease to
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each of the rest, out of the proceeds of the jointure lands in
Glenlyon, which were sold about 1700 to Menzies of Cul-
dares, but which did not come into his possession until
1729. Jean Campbell, the much married mother of
Robert of Glenlyon, on the death of her third husband,
returned to Chesthill. ~When she died, the three Lairds,
her sons, assembled their men to the funeral. The
time intervening between the death and burial was taken
up in the exercise of such games as Aneas might have in-
stituted in honour of his father’s death, and which Virgil
would have with delight described in sounding heroics. In
the race, sword-exercise, fencing, wrestling, tossing the
caber, throwing the hammer, &c.,the Glenlyon men acquitted
themselves with honour; in the putting-stone they and the
Stewarts were put to the blush by one of the M‘Gregors,
who pitching the stone through the fork of a high tree,
made a better cast than any of them was able to do with-
out such an impediment. Robert, anxious for the honour
of the Glen men, sent off in the night for one of his shep-
herds, calied Robert M‘Arthur, who was famous for ath-
letic feats. After walking fifteen miles at the chieftain’s
behest, the rest of the night or morning was spent by
M‘Arthur and the Laird trying the cast of the M‘Gregor.
On the renewal of the game, M‘Gregor having cast the
stone as before, challenged any present to do the like.
M‘Arthur taking it up carelessly and without even putting
off his plaid, threw the stone in the same way as M‘Gregor,
and it fell several feet beyond the mark. Robert was so
overjoyed at the result, as to give the gillies a double
allowance of whisky, and the mirth waxed so fast and furi-
ous, that the purpose of their meeting was nearly for-
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gotten, and the interment allowed to lie over for another
day.

Laird John having but the little property of Kilmorich,
burdened too with his father’s debts, and bound to keep up
the honour of an old family, was, during many years, never
out of difficulties. He set himself resolutely to become free
of debt ; in effecting his purpose his whole life was nearly
spent, but he saw it done. The first duke of Athole,
though, as mentioned before, he resisted the claim to the
redemption of Glenlyon on the payment of a very moderate
sum, became a true and kind friend. In 1710 the Duke
excambed with Glenlyon the estate of Fortingall, or as
now called, Glenlyon House, for Kilmorich. The Duke
allowed himself clearly to have the worst of the bargain.
Lord Glenorchy, son of Earl Breadalbane, was a real
friend, and lent him money on easy terms. Breadalbane,
to remove the coldness resulting from his conduct in the
loss of Glenlyon, likewise bestirred himself to a certain ex-
tent, without paying up old accounts, however. He inter-
fered between Glenlyon and Colin, his own nephew, and
made the latter, and his curator, Lochnell, settle with
the former on easy terms. “ Pale John ” never had an ob-
jection to gain a name for liberality at other people’s ex-
pense. Lochnell’s answer to the Earl’s request, is as
follows :—

My LorD—I received your Lop.’s letter, the 3oth Jully, concerning
Glenlyon’s afaire with your nephew Coline, who in obedience to your
Lop.’s commands brought home the whole papers relative to yt afaire ;
and ’m afraid yt ye have wronged your nephew in soe doing, unlesse
your Lop. see the afaire now ended in a friendly manner ; for it may

oblidge Coline’s doers not to be soe forward for him as they were ;
who in law would have done his busines if your Lop. had not interfered
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As for the two points your Lop. mentions in your letter—viz. the ad-
rents and expenses—I wish Glenlyon verie well, yett in justice I could
not but decerne him the whole expence, yt he oblidged Coline to lay
out in pursuing yt afaire in law; and as for the adrents, I could not
make it lesse yn qt was condescended to by boath parties in your
Lop.’s presence ; and the more that the summe condescended upon
doeth not exceed the fourth part of the adrent dew in law. As for the
cautioners I know nothing about ym, but that I think your Lop. should
not allow your nephew to accept of any but sufficient caurs. ; and what
prejudice may be in Duneaves or his Broyrs being cautioners your
Lop. knows best, but if Coline gett oyr sufficient cautioners at your
Lop.’s sight, that will please him. I take it to be the same upon the
matter.

As for that expedient your Lop. proposes anent Airds, I do not dis-
approve of the overture, if made effectual by the condescendance of
all the parties concerned ; but seeing I am not in the cuntrie to treat
with Airds upon the head, I referre to your Lop. with concent of your
Nephew, to doe in it as ye think most expedient. If your Lop. were
at Castell Kilechurne, and all parties concerned pnt. I doe not doubt
but yt your Lop. would see yt afaire concluded to the satisfactione
of the wholl parties concerned, but I cane not see thorrowe howe it
may be done in heast, the leaving at sich ane distance from one ane
oyr, and in the meantyme it putts ane stope to your Nephew’s afaire,
qeh is not his interest.

To conclude, all that I have to say upon the matter is, that your
Lop. see Glenlyone and your Nephew settled in a friendly manner,
conforme to artickles condescended to by ym boath in your Lop.’s
presence ; oyrways yt ye allowe your Nephew seue Glenlyone in law,
as formerly ; and if that beis the event, as I hope not, ye have done
your Nephew noe favour. And more, I’'me obliged to give your Lop.
the trouble in minding you to doe justice to your Nephew anent his
moyr’s tocher, oyrways yt ye command him discharge you being yt it
lyes in the hands of none to doe him justice in that matter but your
Lop. ; and though his heart faills him to seue your Lop. in law for it,
ye know very well he would come speed if he did it ; and if your Lop.
would but consider the circumstancs of your Nephew, and of his three
portionless brethren, it would be motive enough to oblidge your Lop.
to do him justice. And I may freely say, that hitherto I did bear their
wholl burdine ; and now when they are come to be men, the least that
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could be expected is that your Lop. would do ym justice, they having
the honour to be so nearly interested in your Lop. not asse now, but
now and always continue, my Lord, your Lop.’s Cussine and humble
Servant,

Mingarie, July 30, 1711. J. CA. of Lochinell.

A little after the date of the foregoing letter, a circum-
stance occurred, which, for a time, interrupted the good
feeling between Glenlyon and the family of Breadalbane,
At the death of Red Duncan, Robert Campbell’s grand-
father, the latter being but a child, Sir Robert of Glenor-
chy was one of his curators, and under the pretext of tak-
ing better care of it, removed the Clach-Buadha (stone of
victory) from Meggernie to Finlarig. It remained with the
family of Breadalbane during Robert’s lifetime, who was
sceptical of its virtues or too easy-minded to make the
least effort to regain it. When the excambion with the
Duke of Athole was completed, his mother exhorted Laird
John to reclaim the stone, as if its possession was more
calculated to insure him and his race the enjoyment of the
new property than any legal rights and documents what-
ever. The misfortunes of Robert, and the success of Bread-
albane, afforded proof positive of the inestimable value of
the wonderful stone. Glenlyon therefore demanded its
restoration, and the wily politician and hoary intriguer ex-
hibited his superstitious weakness by giving him a counter-
feit. The Glenlyon family having put it to the test, by
immersion in water, immediately discovered the fraud.
The attempt at imposition roused the Laird to fury, and
he at once galloped back to Taymouth, poured out all the
vials of his wrath upon the head of the Earl, and wound up

a torrent of vituperation with the threat of laying Taymouth
F
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Castle in ashes, should not the true stone be restored on
the spot. Earl John was old, and in his last days no
warrior ; his own followers, he was aware, would not sup-
port him in such barefaced injustice, and not being ready
for battle, as a demand couched in such language admitted
of no other reply, the stone was given up. Glenlyon, it is
said, prospered ever after ; but be that as it may, at the
time it put him into a pretty difficulty with Lord Glenor-
chy, about the money he owed him. The copy of Glen-
lyon’s answer to Glenorchy, without a date, given below,
has a very different tone from the humble requisition to
the Earl in 1696 :—

My Lord—I got your Lop.’s letter from Taymouth last day anent
the money I am owing to you by bond, q¢h should indeed have been
paid at Mert. last. 1 would pay it then without any scruple, had I
been discreetlie dealt with. But being treated lyke banckrab by regis-
trating my bond and giving a charge of horning, some weeks before
the sd term, I thought fitt to employ my money oyrways. And I de-
pend upon some yeir’s adrents of an eight hundred merks bond, that
your father owes me for the Translation of the Feues my father had in
Lorne for your Lop.’s payment. For the principal I suppose it will be
inteir after your Lop.’s payed. As for Ardeonaick’s busines, it’s as
much to yor own prejudice to delay it as it is to mine; qrfor I think
its both yor Lop.s and father’s interest to press it, so long as all
parties concerned are living, more than myne. Meintyme your Lop.
should desyre the Earle to clear my adrents and so shoon as that is
done [ shall pay your Lop.—&c. &c. '

The Highlanders mortally hated William and Mary.
The songs and satires of the celebrated bard, John M‘Donald
or Jain Lom, in which the ingratitude of William and un-
dutifulness of Mary are portrayed in the darkest colours,
spread the unfavourable impression among the very men
who had fought in their cause. Fidelity in friendship and
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affectionate submission to the authority of parents, are un-
doubtedly stronger principles in a primitive community
than among the more civilized ; for in the absence of the
strong coercion of artificial laws, the obligations and tics
founded on the general law of nature must necessarily
exert an active power over the intercourse of men, else
they can no longer exist, individually or corporately.
Parental authority, by the peculiar institution of clanship,
is placed above all other obligations, and hence King
William would have been more acceptable to the High-
landers had he been a Khan of the Tartars instead of Prince
of Orange, or a daring usurper like Cromwell instead of
nephew and son-in-law of the late King. Harvests remark-
ably unfruitful, a blasting east wind that shrivelled up the
produce of the ground, rendered many years of his reign a
time of continual dearth. The Highlanders’ rude ideas of re-
tributive justice associated the visitation of providence with
the crimes and government of the King; they believed the sins
of the ruler were visited upon his subjects, and that through
the dearth the revenge of heaven fell upon them for tamely
submitting to the oppressor of their native prince. But the
massacre of Glencoe no less deterred from rebellion that
it provoked indignation ; and the Highlands after that event
remained quictly but anxiously awaiting for William’s death
as the only escape from misery. In connection with that
event, an anecdote which I have heard may be given in
proof of what has been said. On the 8th March, 1702, a
widow woman in Camusvrachdan, in Glenlyon, astonished
her neighbours by the news of the King’s death. She had
no visible means of information, was far from being sus-
pected of witchcraft, and still she asserted the truth of what






HE estate of Glenlyon did not long remain in posses-
sion of the Athole family. The Marquess during
the short time he had it, projected, and partly completed,
several improvements. He repaired the roads, built
bridges, and commenced working the lead mine called
“ Meall-luaidke” on the hill of Kerrumore, an undertaking
that would probably be now highly remunerative, but
which failed then on account of the difficulty of carriage.
He, moreover, gets credit traditionally for having been the
first to introduce the larch tree to Glenlyon ; but in this
matter tradition errs. It was Crowner Menzies’ grandson
who first brought larches from the Tyrol. The larches be-
hind the garden of Meggernie, were the first planted in
Scotland.

After being held by the Marquess for seven years, he
sold the estate to Colonel James Menzies of Culdares,
better known by the name of “ Crunnair Ruadl nan cearc,”
i.e. “ Crowner Roy of the Hens.,” The history of this man
is very curious, but the hearsay version may not be very ac-
curate. The dramatic cast given it by tradition may be an
embellishment of the truth ; but, unluckily, having no means
of testing the matter, I can merely give as I find.

About the year 1620, a boy, known by the name of James
Roy of the Hens, was to be found among the hangers-on
of the Knight of Weem, the chief of the Menzieses, He
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was an orphan, and claimed some distant cousinship with
the family of Menzies. The chief, pitying the poor orphan,
extended to him his patronage and protection, and made
free tohim the hospitality of his kitchen. The boy’s ostensible
duty was, to look after the poultry, from which he acquired
his cognomen “of the Hens.” But everybody was the boy’s
master, and for each little delinquency the butler deprived
him of his dinner. In such a straight, the <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>